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• Profit before tax of US$33.9million, US$15.0million
before exceptional items

• Net cash generated by operations of US$23.7million

• Gold production of 109,919 ounces at a cash cost 
of US$551/oz 

• Maiden1millionounce resource at Doup, Indonesia

• Acquisitionof Wega Mining ASA completed in June 2009

• Acquisition to double Avocet gold production

HIGHLIGHTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2009
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Avocet is a successful, profitable

gold mining company with assets

in South East Asia andWestAfrica.

Following the acquisition

ofWega Mining ASA, the

Company has two operating

gold mines generating strong cash

flow, a new mine in construction,

a pipeline of exciting exploration

projects, and excellent

management teams.Within

five years,Avocet intends to

become a mid-tier gold producer

with a ten year reserve base.

profitable producer, clear
growth strategy

GOLD MINING PROJECT

EXPLORATION PROJECT
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GOLD MINES IN PRODUCTION – MALAYSIA

PENJOM GOLD MINE
The Penjom gold mine is Malaysia's largest gold producer and was developed by Avocet after applying modern technology to grass roots exploration

in an area of historic mining. The mine was commissioned in December 1996 with Reserves of 223,000 ounces. Avocet was able to overcome initial

problems of highly carbonaceous ore at Penjom by developing unique processing systems including complex gravity circuits and resin-in-leach (RIL)

technology. These processes have potential applications at other carbonaceous orebodies. In November 2005, the Company announced a significant

increase in Penjom’s life of mine plan (LOM) to over half a million ounces, which resulted in the design of a much larger open pit to allow the

additional ounces to be mined. Over the last two years Penjom has expanded its mining and plant capacity accordingly.

Successful resource development, particularly over the last five years, means Penjom has produced over one million ounces of gold to date and still

has nearly one million ounces of Resource. An 80,000 metre drilling programme is in progress that will improve the predictability of the resource model

and allow gold production to increase in future years. The drilling programme includes deep drilling to help assess the potential for underground mining

in the near future, where areas of high grade ore are known to exist.

Penjom has produced over one million ounces of gold to date and still has

nearly one million ounces of Resource

mining
new areas at
Penjom
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44,000metres
drilled since November 2008

four rigsactive in and around the pit
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NORTH LANUT GOLD MINE
The North Lanut gold mine in North Sulawesi, Indonesia, was developed by Avocet from the exploration stage and has produced over 225,000 ounces

since it was commissioned in 2004.

In 2002 Avocet purchased its 80 per cent interest in PT Avocet Bolaang Mongondow (PT ABM), an Indonesian company holding a 6th generation Contract

of Work (CoW), from Newmont Mining Corporation. The North Lanut gold mine is located within the CoW, which includes exploration and mining rights

over approximately 50,000 hectares in an area highly prospective for gold. An Indonesian company, PT Lebong Tandai, owns the remaining 20 per cent.

The operation has historically mined exclusively from the Riska pit. Over the last year development has been carried out at two new pits to the west to

provide a new source of oxide ore, which leaches more easily, to supplement the Riska pit where the ore has become more sulphidic. A new, larger leach

pad was completed in March 2009. Test work is in progress to determine if the mine can economically exploit a new high grade but metallurgically complex

ore zone that has been indicated by past drilling results but is currently excluded from the mine’s latest LOM plan.

Test work is in progress to determine if the mine can economically exploit
a new high grade but metallurgically complex ore zone

GOLD MINES IN PRODUCTION – INDONESIA

responding
to
challenges
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Oxide ore at Rasik and Effendi to
supplement Riska sulphides

8hectares of new leach pad capacity
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GOLD MINE IN CONSTRUCTION – BURKINA FASO

INATA GOLD PROJECT
The Inata gold project in Burkina Faso, West Africa, was purchased by Avocet through the acquisition of Wega Mining ASA (Wega Mining) which was

completed in June 2009. Inata is currently under construction, with first gold production expected in late 2009, and full steady state production in the

year ending March 2011 (FY2011). Inata is expected to produce more than 120,000 ounces of gold per annum over an initial seven year mine life.

The Inata area was explored by the Bureau des Mines et de la Géologie du Burkina between 1984 and 1991, and then in turn by BHP Minerals

International Exploration, Resolute Limited and Goldbelt Resources Limited. Goldbelt was acquired by Wega Mining in December 2007 and

mine construction began in 2008. Inata will be an open pit mine and the processing plant currently under construction incorporates conventional

crushing, milling, gravity and carbon-in-leach (CIL) circuits with a design throughput of 2.25 million tonnes per year. The Inata gold project is situated

in Burkina Faso, approximately 220 kilometres north of the capital Ouagadougou.

First gold production expected in late 2009 – full steady state production

in FY2011

doubling
Avocet’s
production
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Initial7year mine life – resource drilling to
extend beyond10 years

Inata to produce more than120,000oz p.a.
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT

Despite operational set backs that resulted in lower gold production and higher cash costs,

Avocet’s financial results remained robust, with net cash generated by operations remaining

strong at US$23.7 million. High gold prices continued throughout the year driven primarily

by general economic uncertainty, volatility on the financial markets, concerns about inflation

and investor demand through exchange traded funds (ETFs). Gold’s consistent performance

throughout the year ensured that it maintained its status as the primary safe haven

investment. Spot prices reached a peak of US$989/oz in February 2009 and averaged

US$868/oz for the year, an increase of 13 per cent on 2008. All of Avocet’s sales during the

financial year were at spot prices with an average price achieved of US$870/oz. During the

year the Company took advantage of a period of low gold prices to close out its gold collar,

thereby ensuring full exposure to higher gold prices in the future for its existing operations.

Following the acquisition of Wega Mining, the Company will have 350,000 ounces of gold

hedged at an average price of US$958/oz for delivery over a 54 month period commencing

once Inata is in production.

Exploration results have been very positive, especially the maiden one million ounce Inferred

Mineral Resource (reporting according to JORC) at Doup announced in February. However,

permitting delays have continued to hamper the Company’s efforts to bring Bakan into

production to supplement existing operations at Penjom and North Lanut, which despite

having their mine lives extended on an annual basis, are nonetheless mature assets.

THEWAY FORWARD
Since the sale of ZGC in July 2007, Avocet has been reviewing potential acquisition targets

with a view to leveraging its strong debt-free balance sheet and balancing its existing assets

in South East Asia with a medium to long term mine. On 14 April 2009, the Company

announced its intention to acquire Wega Mining ASA, a Norwegian listed mining company.

The acquisition of Wega Mining allows Avocet to increase its gold production at a time

when the gold price remains strong, and to acquire several exciting exploration projects,

which together make the transaction compelling from the perspective of adding value.

Cash flow from operations remained

strong at US$23.7 million
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The transaction means that Avocet now has a strong position in two highly prospective gold

regions, South East Asia and West Africa. In particular, in each region the Company will

have gold production of well over 100,000 ounces and a strong portfolio of exploration

projects. Wega Mining’s primary asset is the Inata gold project, in Burkina Faso, West

Africa, which is the second fastest growing gold district in the world, with a track record

of bringing new mines into production over the last few years. Inata is scheduled to enter

production in late 2009, with planned average production of more than 120,000 ounces a

year over an initial mine life of seven years. There is significant potential for this to be

extended through satellite deposits that may be processed through the Inata plant. Avocet’s

Ore Reserve and Mineral Resources increased by 184 per cent and 81 per cent respectively

as a result of the acquisition.

The Company will continue to seek value added growth opportunities in these two regions

as part of its strategy of extending its operational base through acquisitions and organic

exploration and development. Internal growth will continue to be driven by resource

development at the Company’s operating mines, combined with drilling at some of the

Company’s advanced projects such as Seruyung, Doup, and Koulékoun.

OUTLOOK
The outlook for the gold price remains strong looking forward into 2010. Economic

uncertainty and the impending threat of inflation lead many analysts to forecast a short

term strengthening of price. Settlement today of the Wega Mining transaction means that

Avocet has taken an important step towards its goal of becoming a mid-tier gold producer

and a company of rapid growth. The board and management are focusing on delivering

production increases at Penjom and North Lanut at the same time as achieving a successful

and timely commissioning of Inata and a quick and effective integration of the two

companies. I look forward to updating shareholders on progress over the coming year.

PEOPLE
After more than 13 years on the board, John Newman has announced his intention to stand

down at the AGM in September 2009. John has been an outstanding servant of the

Company, and has overseen a number of major changes, from the listing on the London

Stock Exchange in 1996 through to the acquisition of Wega Mining in 2009, and the

Company has benefitted enormously from his advice. I would like to take this opportunity

to thank John for his contribution over many years, and wish him the very best for the future.

Finally, I thank all our employees for their hard work throughout the year just ended and am

pleased to welcome all those employees and shareholders who have recently joined the

Avocet Group of companies.

Nigel McNair Scott

23 June 2009

The acquisition ofWega means thatAvocet now

has a strong position in two highly prospective

gold regions
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CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER’S STATEMENT

The last year brought a number of production challenges at both the Company’s operations

and a significant rise in the Company’s resource base from continued exploration. In a

turbulent year the Company’s costs were significantly impacted by the rapid rise and fall

of global oil prices, although higher gold prices were a benefit to margins. Avocet’s fall in

gold production reflects the complexity of the Penjom deposit, and underlined the need to

expand to achieve critical mass through a broader portfolio of producing assets within

the Group, while maintaining a focus on operating performance and cost control within

existing operations.

OPERATIONAL PERFORMANCE
Challenges were encountered at Penjom and North Lanut during the year, as evidenced

by lower production and higher cash costs at both mines. Both operations experienced

increases in input costs during the first part of the year, particularly in fuel and key

consumables.

The mined grade at Penjom underperformed the resource model by a significant margin.

Together with higher levels of active carbon, this had a negative impact on both gold

recoveries and gold production. In response to these challenges the mine management

has adopted new resource modelling and grade control procedures and in the second half

of the year mining operations at Penjom were extended into newer areas to the south of

the main pit. Furthermore, a resource development drilling programme of approximately

80,000 metres is under way, and progressing well, with the completion of 44,000 metres

by the end of May 2009 from four rigs active in and around the pit. Management remains

confident that this drilling will further increase the mine life at Penjom.

Penjom’s gold production was primarily impacted by a drop of 28 per cent in average grades

during the year, from 4.84 g/t Au to 3.47 g/t Au, reflecting the complex nature of the

orebody. In the latter part of the year, higher grades of ore mined from around the Penjom

shear zone proved to have a higher than anticipated active carbon content which affected

gold recoveries and processing costs. During the second half of the year power failures

occurred due to intermittent shorting of the power cable outside of the mine site boundary.

Remediation measures are ongoing. Cash costs per ounce increased due to lower gold

production as well as higher prices and greater consumption of consumables in both the

mine and the plant. As anticipated, the stripping ratio fell significantly towards the end of

the year as access to the new mining areas in the south allowed a higher proportion of ore

to be mined, albeit at a lower grade than anticipated. This trend is expected to continue in

the coming year, with the result that excess stripping costs previously deferred during

periods of major waste mining will be reversed as an increase in cash costs.

Management remains confident that resource

development drilling will further increase the

mine life at Penjom
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Gold production at North Lanut was lower in the first half of the year as mining moved

from oxide ore, which leaches more easily, to transitional and sulphide ore types which

require longer leach times. In a difficult first half, therefore, recovery levels dropped to just

34 per cent. North Lanut management responded well to the challenges of processing the

new transition and fresh ore types and by the second half of the year significant

improvements were made in leach pad management, with different ore types being

segregated and treated in a more targeted manner and more of the ore being crushed to

facilitate faster leaching. As a result, recovery levels increased to 64 per cent in the second

half and usage levels of lime and other reagents were reduced. By the end of March 2009,

a new leach pad had been completed which will facilitate further improvements, and mining

was underway at the new Rasik and Effendi pit areas, which are expected to provide more

of the faster leaching oxide ore that had benefited production in previous years. As at

Penjom, cash costs per ounce increased due to lower gold production and higher

consumable costs in both the mine and the plant.

EXPLORATION
The Company continued to review and rationalise its strong pipeline of exploration projects,

especially in Indonesia. The highlight of the year was a one million ounce Inferred Mineral

Resource being announced in February 2009 at Doup in Indonesia. The addition of the

Seruyung project in East Kalimantan, Indonesia, along with ongoing due diligence on the

Kay Tanda project in the Philippines, to the Company’s suite of projects endorses the ongoing

commitment to organic growth. These projects have the capability of providing the Company

with both resource growth and prospects which can be taken to feasibility over the short to

medium term. Meanwhile Bakan, within the North Lanut CoW, remains in an advanced stage

of feasibility, pending the resolution of permitting issues. A review of the recently acquired

West African exploration projects is currently underway with the intention of defining priorities

for the Company’s enlarged exploration portfolio. Excluding Inata, the Koulékoun project in

Guinea is the most advanced project acquired through the purchase of Wega Mining although

a number of other exploration prospects now owned by the Company look to have significant

resource potential in what is a highly prospective region.

At Penjom, the resource development drilling programme includes infill and resource

definition drilling in order to firm up the existing resource model. This programme is

progressing on track and a revised resource model is expected to be available in August

2009 that will take account of the drilling completed since November 2008 where some

encouraging intercepts have been made. Initial deep drilling has been completed and results

of this are awaited before analysis is undertaken to review the merits of expanding the

open pit further or going underground below the current open pit. The Penjom orebody

remains open along strike and at depth.

Positive results from resource development drilling at North Lanut led to a resource upgrade

announced in November 2008.

Improvements were made in leach pad management

and recoveries increased in the second half



ACQUISITION
As a result of the acquisition of Wega Mining and of Avocet’s organic development pipeline,

the Company will become a mid-tier gold producer with annual production expected to

approach 300,000 ounces in the medium term. The transaction therefore delivers key

elements of the Company’s acquisition growth strategy. In particular, it will grow the

Company’s gold production at a time when the gold price is expected to remain strong,

and in the Inata project, it provides a medium life asset with significant exploration upside

in a highly prospective region.

With the Inata gold project nearing completion, Avocet can provide the funds necessary

to commission the operation. In addition, Avocet has experience in building and developing

new mines, having commissioned both Penjom and North Lanut. The Inata gold project

is not without its challenges. Since its involvement in the latter stages of construction, the

Company has needed to take decisive action to ensure the project is built to required

international standards. This has included the termination of the contract with the

engineering firm previously managing the project’s construction. A new team has recently

arrived at the project and the next months will be critical leading up to expected

commissioning in late 2009. As well as the Inata gold project, the Wega Mining group

holds 27 exploration licences in Burkina Faso, Mali, and Guinea, which will enhance the

existing portfolio in Indonesia, Malaysia and the Philippines, and allow Avocet’s exploration

team to add further value.

Integration work is progressing well and will result in improved processes throughout the

enlarged Group.
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CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER’S STATEMENT (CONTINUED)

The acquisition ofWega Mining will

grow the Company’s gold production

at a time when the gold price is

expected to remain strong
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FINANCIAL RESULTS
The Group profit before tax in the year was US$33.9 million compared with US$29.3 million

in the previous year. Before exceptional items, profit before tax in the year was

US$15.0 million, compared with US$52.4 million in the previous year. Despite a 13 per cent

increase in realised gold prices during the year, the Group’s profitability was impacted by a

30 per cent decrease in gold production, combined with a 21 per cent increase in total

production cash costs, primarily in fuel and reagent costs.

Exceptional items in the year totalled US$18.9 million, comprising a US$24.8 million mark

to market gain on the Group’s gold collar that was liquidated during the year, as well as a

US$2.3 million profit on disposal of a ball mill, and exploration impairments totalling

US$8.2 million.

The average cash costs of the Group increased from US$316/oz to US$551/oz in the year.

This increase was primarily the result of the fall in gold production levels, but was also

impacted by industry wide factors such as inflationary pressures on input costs, particularly

fuel and reagents. These costs are shown after adjusting for US$5.6 million of deferred

stripping costs at Penjom, before which the cost per ounce for the year was US$602/oz

(FY2008 – US$358/oz).

Net cash generated from operations was US$23.7 million, compared with US$65.4 million

in the previous year. The Group’s total net cash outflow in the year was US$50.2 million,

which included US$36.6 million in investments in equipment, infrastructure and exploration,

the payment of US$20.8 million to close out the Group’s gold collar during the year, and

US$16.0 million of tax paid. Of the total tax paid, US$7.1 million was in respect of

North Lanut’s record previous year profit and a further US$6.0 million represented overpaid

tax for FY2009. At the year end, the Group had cash of US$72.4 million and no debt,

compared with a cash position of US$122.6 million at the start of the year. The Group’s

total cash balance is currently approximately US$58 million, with the reduction from the

year end principally related to expenditure on the Inata gold project.

PEOPLE
In order to continue its clear path of growth Avocet’s management group was strengthened

during the year with the formation of a technical services group, whose aim is to provide

support to the senior management at the Company’s operations and projects. A regional

office was established in Kuala Lumpur, Malaysia, providing a base for executive

management and the technical services group.

With the combined challenges of existing operations in South East Asia, and new assets

in West Africa, Avocet is more than ever reliant on the strength of its management and

technical teams.

Last year was a difficult year for the Company – and I am pleased with the way in which

our staff responded. I expect the coming year to present more challenges and I am

confident we are well placed to meet these head on, and to exploit the opportunities that

will also arise.

Jonathan Henry

23 June 2009

Avocet is more

than ever reliant on

the strength of its

management and

technical teams
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GOLD MARKET

For many centuries, gold has represented a store of value and has been used in jewellery,

art and industrial applications. It occurs as nuggets or grains within rocks, and may also be

found in alluvial deposits. Gold forms the basis for a monetary standard used by the

International Monetary Fund and the Bank for International Settlements.

Pure gold is soft and is typically hardened by alloying with silver, copper or other materials.

Adding different types of metals also brings out a wide spectrum of colours. When gold is

alloyed with other metals the term carat is used to indicate the amount of gold present, with

24 carats being pure gold and lower ratings proportionally less.

SUPPLY AND DEMAND
SUPPLY

Gold supply is derived from three main sources: mining, official sector sales and recycling

of gold scrap. Global gold supply in 2008 was 3,519 tonnes(1), of which 2,058 tonnes came

from mining, 1,215 tonnes from scrap metal, and 246 tonnes came from official sector sales.

The total was similar to 2007 as fewer central bank sales were offset by higher scrap sales.

Gold is produced from mines on every continent except Antarctica, where mining is

forbidden. Typical ore grades in open pit mines are 1–5 g/t Au, while ore grades in

underground mines are much higher. Ore grades of 30 g/t Au are usually needed before gold

is visible to the naked eye. Lead times for new mine development can be up to 10 years.

Underinvestment during the 1990s bear market means that there have been relatively few

projects in the pipeline and the current financial crisis is likely to have negative implications

in coming years as the funding gap in project and exploration expenditure begins to filter

through. The largest gold producers are China and USA, followed by South Africa which has

slipped from the top ranking in 2006 to third, as accidents and power issues saw an increase

in temporary closures and production halts. Central banks and official international

institutions hold approximately one-fifth of global above-ground stocks of gold as reserve

assets, with governments holding on average around 10 per cent of their official reserves

as gold. This sector as a whole has been a net seller since 1989, contributing an average

of 432 tonnes to annual supply flows between 2004 and 2008. Since 1999, the bulk of

these sales have been regulated by the Central Bank Gold Agreement (which stabilises

sales from 15 of the world’s biggest holders of gold). Scrap sales rose in 2008, driven by

higher prices.

DEMAND

Gold has various applications including jewellery, medical, electronics, dentistry and

environmental. In 2008, total identifiable gold demand was 3,805 tonnes, 7 per cent higher

than in 2007. This rise was driven by a strong increase in investment demand, more than

offsetting a fall in demand from jewellery, industrial and dental uses. Jewellery accounted

for 2,186 tonnes and industrial and dental 436 tonnes. Investment accounted for 1,184

tonnes, of which 863 tonnes were from net retail investment (mainly gold bars and coins)

with Exchange Traded Funds (ETFs) and similar products accounting for 321 tonnes.

Historically, jewellery has accounted for about 70 per cent of total demand. However, the

impact of sustained high gold prices and economic uncertainty have taken their toll, and this

figure fell to 57 per cent for 2008. By contrast, demand from investors has risen markedly in

recent years. Since 2003, investment demand had increased in value terms by over 600 per

cent by the end of 2008 and accounted for 31 per cent of total demand in 2008. Gold ETFs

are investment vehicles which offer the retail investor exposure to the gold price without

incurring storage and insurance costs associated with a physical gold holding. Since their

launch, gold ETFs have attracted a significant amount of tonnage from investors in the

Australian, UK, South African, US and Far East markets. In the first three months of 2009,

demand from gold ETFs alone accounted for almost 46 per cent of total demand for gold.

Investment demand

for gold has risen markedly

in recent years

(1) Information on global gold supply and demand has been sourced from GFMS Ltd (www.gfms.co.uk) and the World Gold Council (www.gold.org)
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Gold’s use as an investment derives from its role as an alternative asset whose value tends

to be inversely correlated to the US Dollar. It has also been viewed as a hedge against volatility

on the financial markets, in the context of increased risk aversion and inflation concerns.

GOLD PRICES
Gold may be sold in a number of forms, however a widely-used standard for measuring gold

prices is that of the “London fix”, which is a price for gold bullion of at least 99.5 per cent

purity, fixed twice daily, in the morning and in the afternoon, by the members of the London

Bullion Market Association. Gold is normally measured in troy ounces, where one troy ounce

is equal to about 31.1 grams or 32,151 ounces per metric tonne, and is priced in US Dollars.

Over the last six years gold has been in a sustained bull market due to factors including a

weaker US dollar combined with strong local currencies for the typical raw material

producers, a shortage of exploration activities, low inflation and interest rates, and demand

initially from jewellery and industry, and more recently from investors. The gold price hit a

peak above US$1,000/oz in March 2008, and fell back to US$700/oz in October 2008, since

when prices have remained at or above US$900/oz.

During the Company’s financial year ended 31 March 2009, the price of gold remained

strong, confirming its status as a safe-haven investment during times of economic

uncertainty, especially in late 2008, as the global financial crisis intensified.

In the near term, the future performance of global markets will be highly dependent on the

successful implementation of fiscal stimulus packages and the ability of central banks to

stabilise financial sectors via aggressive monetary easing. Given the uncertainty surrounding

both of these, investors’ risk aversion appears relatively high to date, suggesting gold will

continue to be held as a safe-haven commodity.

Avocet sold all of its gold output during the year at the prevailing spot price. The average

realised gold price was US$870/oz, an increase of 13 per cent on the previous year. In

September 2008 the Company took advantage of the temporary fall in the gold price and

eliminated its gold collar hedge position. Following the Wega Mining acquisition, Avocet

now has 350,000 ounces of gold hedged through forward sales contracts at an average

price of US$958/oz for delivery over a 54 month period. The forward sales contracts have

a flexible structure with certain minimum deliverables each quarter which may be varied

depending on the actual production level in the period.

During the year gold confirmed its status as

a safe-haven investment during times

of economic uncertainty

Years ended 31 March 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009

Gold price(1)

High 454 584 725 1,011 989

Low 375 414 587 642 712

Average 414 477 629 766 868

Realised price(2) 414 437 607 767 870

(1) London AM fix (US$/oz)

(2) Includes impact of hedged sales in 2006 and 2007
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MINING AND PROCESSING
The main issues affecting operations at Penjom during the year ended 31 March 2009 were

a negative reconciliation to the resource model in respect of ore grades mined and high

carbon levels affecting gold recoveries. The deposit at Penjom is known to be geologically

and metallurgically complex, and contains coarse gold which causes a significant nugget

effect and considerable variability in production. In the mine’s early years, the greater

availability of high grade ore enabled stockpiles to be built up, from which run of mine ore

could be supplemented to even out fluctuations in grades mined before feeding to the mill

for processing. With these higher grade stockpiles having been exhausted during the

previous year the mill has processed similar grades to those mined, which have

underperformed the resource model.

In the first half of the year, mining operations focused on the bottom of the main Kalampong

pit, where working areas were narrow and difficult for equipment to mine. In addition,

grades proved lower than expected, reflecting a lack of expected gold mineralisation in the

sandstone host rock encountered at the bottom of the pit. Mining activity was therefore

refocused on waste stripping in order to accelerate access to new areas where higher

grades were expected, including the Janik and Manik areas to the south of the main

Kalampong pit. Access to these areas required the diversion of the Jaleh creek which was

completed in September 2008.

In the second half of the year, ore mining moved to the newer areas of expected higher

grade, including the Janik and Manik areas opened up by the creek diversion. However,

levels of organic carbon proved higher than expected, particularly when mining through the

high grade Penjom shear zone. As a consequence, run of mine ore had to be blended with

lower carbon, but lower grade, stockpile material in order to prevent preg-robbing, the

process by which gold adsorbs to the organic carbon in the ore which is lost to tailings,

rather than to the resin in leach from which the gold is stripped as part of the normal process.

This blending reduced mill feed grades.

OPERATING REVIEW – PENJOM

Years ended 31 March 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009

Production statistics

Ore mined (tonnes) 832,000 629,000 443,000 561,000 699,000

Waste mined (tonnes) 13,244,000 18,927,000 16,941,000 16,697,000 16,939,000

Ore and waste mined (tonnes) 14,076,000 19,556,000 17,384,000 17,258,000 17,638,000

Ore processed (tonnes) 527,500 573,700 570,100 596,100 718,900

Average ore head grade (g/t Au) 7.92 7.10 5.67 4.84 3.47

Process recovery rate 89% 91% 92% 91% 86%

Gold produced (ounces) 119,850 117,680 95,966 83,724 68,902

Cash costs (US$/oz)

– mining 109 141 212 239 349

– processing 57 60 80 97 167

– royalties and overheads 37 41 59 78 94

Total before deferred stripping (US$/oz) 203 242 351 414 610

– deferred stripping – – – (80) (82)

Total cash cost (US$/oz) 203 242 351 334 528

The deposit at Penjom is geologically and

metallurgically complex in early 2008
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Ore mining in newer areas of expected higher grade

– Janik andManik
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In spite of the challenges of mining at the bottom of the pit, overall volumes mined in the

year were two per cent higher than the previous year, reflecting the impact of the new

mining fleet acquired in early 2008. A number of initiatives have been put in place to

maximise mining efficiencies.

Following an upgrade of the mill in the previous year, the processing plant at Penjom

successfully increased levels of throughput by 20 per cent compared with the previous

year, with 718,900 tonnes of ore milled. However recoveries for the year fell to 86 per cent

compared with 91 per cent in the previous year, reflecting the high carbon content in ore

from the Penjom shear, as well as lower grades throughout the year which yield lower

recoveries due to a fixed minimum level of tail grades.

With the depletion of high or medium grade low carbon stockpiles from previous periods,

much of the carbonaceous run of mine ore has been fed directly into the treatment plant.

In response to this challenge, the plant has taken a number of steps to maintain recoveries,

including increasing kerosene usages to blank the effect of organic carbon, improving gravity

circuits (which are less affected by carbon levels), and increasing the level of resin in the

leach tanks.

In addition to metallurgical challenges, the plant suffered intermittent power failures

towards the end of the year, as heavy rainfalls and associated ground movement caused

shorting of the main power cable supplying the mine, resulting in several days downtime

in the mill.

GOLD PRODUCTIONAND CASH COSTS
Gold production for the year fell to 68,902 ounces compared with 83,724 in the prior year,

with the average mill grade for the year falling 28 per cent to 3.47 g/t Au.

Full year cash costs were US$528/oz, after deferring US$5.6 million of excess stripping

costs, equivalent to US$82/oz. This compares with US$334/oz in the previous year, with the

increase reflecting lower gold production and higher input prices. Mining costs increased to

US$349/oz, impacted by fuel prices, while treatment costs rose to US$167/oz, affected by

reagent price increases in the first part of the year, and higher usage levels for kerosene in

the latter half.

OUTLOOK
In addition to a number of initiatives addressing efficiencies in haul cycles, and improving

recoveries from the process plant, the key focus for the next 12 months at Penjom is the

need to improve the understanding and interpretation of the ore body and future grades,

which is the main driver of future production. A programme of 80,000 metres resource

development drilling is underway, with a primary focus on improving the predictability of the

resource model through infill drilling, as well as exploring the possibility of new resource

areas along strike and at depth below the known orebodies.

Focusing on improved interpretation of the ore body

and future grades

OPERATING REVIEW – PENJOM (CONTINUED)
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Programme of80,000metres
resource development drilling – progressing well
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RESOURCE DEVELOPMENT
In November 2008 North Lanut upgraded its resource as a result of revised models of both

the Riska and Effendi deposits (the latter is now referred to as the Rasik and Effendi pits).

The revised models not only showed an increase, net of depletion, in the total resource base

but also in the grade at both deposits. The classification of the resources at North Lanut also

showed significant improvement with the remodelling undertaken, as a result of which

only 15 per cent of the contained gold ounces is now in the Inferred category.

Resource development continued throughout the year at both Riska and Effendi. While the

deep drilling programme undertaken during 2008 was successful in identifying high grade

sulphidic core beneath the present Riska pit, recent efforts have focused on assessing and

closing off the lower grade margins at Riska and Effendi, which comprise transitional and

oxide material, as well as further defining the mineralisation near to and just below the

planned base of the pits. Resource development work has included geological mapping,

channel sampling and detailed infill soil auger sampling of near mine satellite targets at

Ayam Putih, Ayam Hitam, West Rasik, South Rasik, Southwest Rasik and Nanda. Several

of these targets are mineralised boulder fields, which could add additional oxide resources

to North Lanut’s mine plan.

MINING AND PROCESSING
Production was adversely affected, particularly in the first half of the year, by lower grades

and low gold recovery as the ore mined in the Riska pit changed from predominantly oxide

to transitional and sulphide material. As a result, average gold recoveries in the first half year

fell to 34 per cent. A number of measures were put in place to respond to the dip in

recoveries, including a new leach pad known as HLP3A, crushing of ore before being placed

on the leach pad, use of “rain coats” to cover the leach pad and prevent dilution of the

OPERATING REVIEW – NORTH LANUT

Years ended 31 March 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009

Production statistics

Ore mined (tonnes) 429,000 1,333,000 1,255,000 1,969,000 1,310,000

Waste mined (tonnes) 556,000 1,801,000 2,322,000 1,144,000 1,595,000

Ore and waste mined (tonnes) 985,000 3,134,000 3,577,000 3,113,000 2,905,000

Ore leached (tonnes) 302,000 1,327,000 1,157,000 1,683,000 1,338,000

Average ore head grade (g/t Au) 1.45 1.65 1.86 2.54 2.10

Process recovery rate 63% 75% 69% 54% 45%

Gold produced (ounces) 8,852 54,520 48,170 74,183 41,017

Cash costs (US$/oz)

– mining 274 96 188 139 272

– processing 69 39 68 67 175

– royalties and overheads 157 66 98 89 141

Total cash cost (US$/oz) 500 201 354 295 588

Recoveries in the first half year fell to 34% as

ore mined becamemore sulphidic
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Recoveries of64% in the second half year –

improvement initiatives include “rain coats”

and new leach pad
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leach solution by heavy rain, and segregation of ore types on the leach pad, which allows

the different ore types to be processed in separate cells to accommodate their different

reagent requirements and optimise their respective leach times. In addition the decision

was made to accelerate development of the Rasik and Effendi pits, located to the west of

Riska in order to provide more oxide material. Gold recoveries in the second half year

improved to 64 per cent.

Although lower than in the record previous year, ore grades mined were higher than

expected in the resource model, while the more sulphide nature of the ore necessitated

longer leach times. With leach pad space in short supply pending completion of HLP3A,

these factors meant that ore tonnes mined and processed were slowed during the year in

order to avoid further reduction in recovery that would have occurred by terminating cells

prematurely in order to maximise throughput. Waste tonnes mined were higher than the

previous year due to the need to develop the Rasik and Effendi areas in order to access

more oxide material.

GOLD PRODUCTIONAND CASH COSTS
North Lanut achieved production of 41,017 ounces in 2009, a decrease of 48 per cent from

the previous year. Initiatives implemented during the year, including a plant upgrade,

installation of a mobile crusher and improved leach pad management, resulted in significant

improvements in recovery and gold production in the second half.

Cash costs were US$588/oz, compared with US$295/oz in the previous year when high

grades and availability of oxide ore resulted in record gold production. In addition, higher

consumable costs were experienced, the most notable being diesel, explosives, lime and

cyanide. Operational efficiencies and higher volumes mined meant that the impact of these

increases was minimal on a cost per tonne basis. Administrative expenditure increased as

a result of fuel related freight and supply costs combined with the cost of strengthening the

management team to address operating challenges and the need to manage infrastructure

projects including HLP3A and waste dumps to sustain future production.

OUTLOOK
Mining operations in the coming year will focus on the development and mining of the

Effendi and Rasik pits to provide oxide ore, as well as continuing mining in the Riska pit.

Testwork will continue on the high grade deep sulphide resource identified in drilling during

the year, using in-house skills and experience to identify an appropriate metallurgical

process. Should this work be successful the mine life could be extended further.

The commissioning of HLP3A in April 2009 means that North Lanut has sufficient leach

pad capacity for another year with additional planning underway to extend this leach pad for

the remaining mine life. Emphasis on technical and operational improvements will continue,

especially in leach pad management. Leach pad recovery is expected to remain broadly

similar with that achieved in the second half of the year, allowing production to be

maintained despite the lower grades associated with oxide ore mined at Rasik and Effendi.

Ore grades mined were higher than expected

in the resource model

OPERATING REVIEW – NORTH LANUT (CONTINUED)
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Sulphide ore crushing to improve
recoveries
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In June 2009, Avocet completed the takeover of Wega Mining and through this transaction

gained a 90 per cent interest in the Inata gold project, located approximately 220 kilometres

north of Ouagadougou, the capital of Burkina Faso in West Africa. The Burkina Faso

government holds the balance of 10 per cent.

The Inata area was explored by the Bureau des Mines et de la Géologie du Burkina between

1984 and 1991, and then in turn by BHP Minerals International Exploration, Resolute Limited

and Goldbelt Resources Limited. Goldbelt was acquired by Wega Mining in December 2007.

Burkina Faso is widely regarded as a pro-mining country. The country has a stable

democracy with President Blaise Compaoré having been re-elected three times. Four gold

mines have been opened in Burkina Faso in the past two years with a further two mines in

development. Gold mines in Burkina Faso, including Inata, are currently targeting production

of around 350,000 ounces per annum, an increase of 500 per cent in the past five years.

Once in full production Inata will employ approximately 300 people, most of whom will be

recruited from within Burkina Faso.

DEVELOPMENT PROGRESS
Construction at Inata commenced in 2008 and the processing plant is expected to be

commissioned by December 2009, with full steady state production in FY2011. Since taking

control of the project Avocet has strengthened the construction management team in order

to ensure that the project is built to required international standards and that gold production

commences in a timely and cost effective manner. This has included the termination of the

contract with the engineering firm previously managing the project’s construction and the

introduction of a new team. All major capital has been committed and all major features have

been completed or are at an advanced state, including a dam to provide water for

operations, the tailings facility, and the plant’s crushing, grinding, gravity and CIL circuits.

Total capital expenditure for the Inata gold project is projected at approximately US$170

million, which excludes funding of the operation’s initial consumables inventory.

LIFE OF MINE OPERATIONS
The recently revised LOM plan determined that the operation will produce more than

120,000 ounces of gold annually over an initial seven year mine life, at an average cash cost

in the region of US$525/oz. The current Measured and Indicated Mineral Resources at Inata

are 25,060,000 tonnes grading 1.75 g/t Au (1,397,000 ounces of gold) and Inferred Mineral

Resources are 7,096,000 tonnes grading 1.30 g/t Au (298,000 ounces of gold). The current

Proven and Probable Ore Reserves at Inata stand at 15,424,000 tonnes grading 1.90 g/t Au

OPERATING REVIEW – INATA

Commissioning expected by December 2009 –

full steady state production in FY2011
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4goldmines in Burkina Faso
in the past2years – 2more in development
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(944,000 ounces of gold). The Mineral Resources and Ore Reserves for Wega Mining

entities have been prepared and reported in accordance with the Canadian National

Instrument 43-101 (NI 43-101) which governs the accuracy of scientific and technical details

disclosed by mining companies listed on Canadian security exchanges. Avocet will reassess

these over the next year and report using the JORC standard when complete. Gold

mineralisation at Inata can be traced over a continuous four kilometres strike length and

occurs within silicified volcaniclastic rocks, porphyries and vein quartz that occur within a

large shear zone. It is anticipated that additional gold resources from Avocet’s exploration

licences surrounding the 26 square kilometre Inata mining permit will be defined in due

course allowing for potential additions to the current LOM plan. Once Inata is in production

Avocet is aiming to recommence exploration on the surrounding tenements.

Mining at Inata will be conventional drilling, blasting, loading and hauling in several open

pits scheduled for production at different stages during the LOM. A proportion of the ore,

mostly near surface, is soft oxide that will not require blasting. Less than five per cent of

the reserves are contained in “fresh” rock that is more sulphide in nature. The mining fleet

will primarily be owner operated equipment sufficient to sustain production 24 hours a day,

seven days a week. Mining operations commenced at Inata in December 2008 with first ore

being mined in March 2009, enabling the stockpiling of ore prior to the plant being

commissioned. Approximately 13.3 million tonnes of ore will be mined during the LOM at

a strip ratio of 8.5. As Inata is not within the vicinity of the main electricity grid the project

will be powered by a 12.6 MW diesel fired power station.

The processing plant currently under construction incorporates conventional crushing,

grinding, gravity and CIL circuits and has a design throughput of 2.25 million tonnes per

annum. The LOM average head grade will be 2.1 g/t Au and with a design recovery of 92

per cent total gold production is expected to be 830,000 ounces.

PROJECT FINANCE FACILITY
Through the acquisition of Wega Mining, Avocet has taken on a senior debt project finance

facility of US$65 million from Macquarie Bank of which US$56 million has been drawn to

date. This facility was established by Goldbelt prior to its acquisition by Wega Mining to

fund the construction of the Inata gold project. Under the terms of this facility 350,000

ounces of gold have been sold forward at a weighted average price of US$958/oz over

approximately five years.

Gold mineralisation at Inata can be traced over

a continuous 4 kilometre strike length

OPERATING REVIEW – INATA (CONTINUED)
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Plant design throughput of2.25million tonnes
per annum
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OPERATING REVIEW – EXPLORATION

Avocet is committed to organic growth through exploration as a key component of its

growth strategy. During the year the Company spent a total of US$13.8 million on

exploration. Of this total, US$6.9 million was invested in resource development at Penjom,

North Lanut and Bakan, while a further US$6.9 million was spent on greenfield exploration

in Malaysia, Indonesia and the Philippines. Nearly 22,000 metres were drilled during the last

12 months at five greenfield projects in the South East Asia region. In the coming year the

focus of greenfield exploration will be to define priorities for the Company’s enlarged

exploration portfolio following the Wega Mining acquisition, and to develop drilling

programmes for 2010 that will include firming up advanced targets and infill drilling to bring

projects to pre-feasibility. Avocet will complete its evaluation of Kay Tanda in 2009, located

on Luzon Island in the Philippines, where the Company is conducting due diligence on a

potential one million ounce resource.

In West Africa, the acquisition of Wega Mining has added a number of highly prospective

targets in Burkina Faso (Belahouro and Houndé) and Guinea (Koulékoun), with the latter

already known to host an Indicated and Inferred Mineral Resource of 666,500 ounces.

Furthermore, the prospectivity of the Belahouro Group of licences is expected to yield

additional ounces for processing at the Inata plant over the coming years.

Avocet’s exploration team will continue to seek generative targets in the South East Asia

region and this search will now extend to West Africa.

In assessing a prospect, the Company’s exploration teams look for projects with potential

for both multi-million ounce resources and high reserve conversion capacity in order that

they can become future mines. An example of this would be the announcement in February

2009 of a maiden Inferred Mineral Resource estimate for the project at Doup of 966,300

ounces. This resource estimate was established after an intensive drilling campaign, which

began in May 2008 and consisted of over 11,000 metres of drilling in six months. Those

projects that do not fit the above criteria are flagged for divestment or joint venture where

appropriate, in order to allow the Company’s cash resources to be deployed at projects

with a higher priority.

MALAYSIA
Resource development around Penjom remains the Company’s main exploration priority in

Malaysia. During the year the Company completed over 36,000 metres of resource

development drilling at Penjom, a 16 per cent increase on the metres drilled in FY2008.

However, Avocet’s continued success at Penjom means that a number of early stage

generative projects further afield in Malaysia are also being assessed. Discussions are

ongoing with the Sarawak Economic Development Corporation to enable Avocet to explore

properties in Sarawak. A memorandum of understanding has also been signed with a

privately owned international exploration group to explore jointly for gold in Perak. Avocet

will be the first company to apply for a gold exploration licence in this province, illustrating

the strategic advantage the Company believes it has in Malaysia. In total, Avocet spent

US$3.0 million on exploration in Malaysia.

GENERATIVE
MALAYSIA

Penjom District

East Malaysia

Perak

INDONESIA

Pusian Sulawesi Utara

Patung-Anggrek Pani

Bulagidun

GUINEA

Kankan Kodianfara

Kolenda Tomboko

MALI

Diamana

SCOUT DRILLING
INDONESIA

Mangkaluku Totopo

Tanoyan Bolangitang

Seruyung Upper Tobayagan

Molobog

BURKINA FASO

Belahouro

Houndé

PRE-FEASIBILITY
INDONESIA

Doup

GUINEA

Koulékoun

FEASIBILITY
INDONESIA

Bakan

MINE DEVELOPMENT
MALAYSIA

Penjom

INDONESIA

North Lanut

BURKINA FASO

Inata
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Avocet is committed to organic growth

through exploration as a key component

of its growth strategy

DEVELOPMENT PIPELINE
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Over20prospects in the pipeline
3projects at feasibility or pre-feasibility stage
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INDONESIA
At North Lanut, resource development work has included geological mapping, channel

sampling and detailed infill soil auger sampling of near mine satellite targets at Ayam Putih,

Ayam Hitam, West Rasik, South Rasik, Southwest Rasik and Nanda. Several of these

targets are mineralised boulder fields, which could add additional oxide resources to North

Lanut’s mine plan. At Bakan, work continues with the provincial government on permitting,

including clarification of protected forestry issues. It is hoped that progress may be made

later in 2009 following the local elections in Indonesia this year.

Greenfield exploration in Indonesia is primarily focused on evaluating Doup in North

Sulawesi and Seruyung in East Kalimantan. Work also took place during the year at other

prospects including Tanoyan and in Gorontalo. At Doup, significant progress was made

during the year. Drill rigs arrived on site in May 2008 and completed over 11,000 metres of

drilling in the following months. A maiden Inferred Mineral Resource for Doup of 966,300

ounces was announced in February 2009 in accordance with the JORC Code (2004). This

is likely to grow when the drill spacing is decreased in future drilling campaigns and scout

drilling commences on several satellite targets. In addition to the excellent resource

potential at Doup, the project is free from any restricted forests, which removes a major

impediment to its development.

On the Seruyung property in East Kalimantan, the Company completed almost 2,000

metres of scout diamond drilling in fourteen drill holes. Early indications are that the deposit

has the potential to host a gold resource in excess of 500,000 ounces that can be treated

using the same heap leach process employed at North Lanut. Satellite targets in the area

promise to add to this resource base. An infill drilling programme is being designed that will

allow an estimate of Inferred Mineral Resources that will be reportable according to the

JORC Code (2004).

At Tanoyan, a significant vein system has been identified that extends for over two

kilometres. Scout drilling has now been completed, which has intersected a number of

mineralised zones. Geological resource modelling is currently underway to produce a

preliminary estimate for this deposit.

Work on Avocet’s projects in Gorontalo Province was focused on Totopo during the year,

where a twelve hole scout drilling programme totalling almost 2,600 metres was completed.

The final batch of assays received in October and November 2008 showed several narrow,

medium grade intercepts at depth, which indicated limited potential to support a viable

mining operation. The Company is therefore seeking to divest this project and the other

properties in the Gorontalo CoW.

THE PHILIPPINES
In September 2008 Avocet expanded its exploration presence into the Philippines by signing

a memorandum of understanding with TSX-V listed Mindoro Resources Limited (Mindoro),

which gives the Company the right to earn up to 75 per cent of the Archangel project (Kay

Tanda) in the Batangas province of southern Luzon.

Mindoro had previously released a resource estimate that included Indicated Resources of

3.4 Mt @ 0.88 g/t Au and 8.0 g/t Ag (containing 95,000 ounces gold) and Inferred Resources

of 11.6 Mt @ 0.70 g/t Au and 3.0 g/t Ag (containing 262,000 ounces gold) above a 0.4 g/t

Au cut off for oxide and transition material and above a 0.6 g/t Au cut off for fresh material.

Avocet believes there is still significant upside potential with the current drilling programme

targeting high grade feeder zones, which were not included in Mindoro’s resource estimate.

If the findings of its due diligence are favourable, Avocet would aim to fast track the project

into feasibility by undertaking metallurgical test work and preliminary engineering studies

within the next 12 months.
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OPERATING REVIEW – EXPLORATION (CONTINUED)
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Maiden Mineral Resource at Doup

of1.0millionoz
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OPERATING REVIEW – EXPLORATION (CONTINUED)

WEST AFRICA
Following the acquisition of Wega Mining in June 2009, the Company has taken on a

number of highly prospective projects in Burkina Faso, Guinea and Mali. A review of these

is currently underway with the intention of defining priorities for the Company’s enlarged

exploration portfolio.

In northern Burkina Faso, the targets within the Belahouro Group of licences all lie within

40 kilometres of the Inata plant site. An initial review of these licences, covering 1,635

square kilometres, has led to the Belahouro Group becoming a high priority target. The area

of greatest interest is the Souma Trend, located 20 kilometres east of the plant, where very

encouraging gold intercepts in limited scout drill holes have been reported over a

16 kilometre long geochemical trend. Drill intercepts along the Souma Trend include 23 m @

15.5 g/t Au from 16 m (SRC048) and 30 m @ 3.06 g/t Au from 20 m (SRC093).

In addition to the licences in northern Burkina Faso, Avocet now controls a further six

licences covering 1,170 square kilometres in the southwestern part of the country,

collectively known as the Houndé Group. These licences lie along strike of the Mana mine

owned by Semafo Inc. and incorporate several subparallel geochemical anomalies up to

seven kilometres in length. Drilling at Kari Nord has identified an initial 500 metre strike

length of lode-hosted gold mineralisation. Drilling intercepts include 47 m @ 6.05 g/t Au

from 41 m (KRC018) and 43 m @ 3.00 g/t Au from 31 m (KRCD005). There is additional

exploration potential in the two permits to the south of Houndé at Bougouriba.

Preliminary rock and auger sampling, followed by scout and infill drilling, is planned for the

Belahouro and Houndé licence groups in the coming 24 months following a comprehensive

review of all projects that will include synthesis of all available datasets.

In neighbouring Guinea, Avocet has acquired the Koulékoun project in the east of the

country, which has an existing NI 43-101 compliant Mineral Resource that includes Indicated

Resources of 12.69 Mt @ 1.55 g/t Au (containing 632,000 ounces of gold) and Inferred

Resources of 0.72 Mt @ 1.48 g/t Au (containing 34,500 ounces of gold) above a 0.6 g/t Au

cut off. This resource is based on drilling at one of several known areas of mineralisation.

Drilling has only taken place at one other prospect in the area, Kodiéran, some 20 kilometres

south of Koulékoun, where scout RC holes intersected 60 m @ 2.01 g/t Au from 72 m

(WKD018) and 43 m @ 3.23 g/t Au from 42 m (WKD016). Other permits in Guinea afford

strategic positions adjacent to AngloGold Ashanti’s Siguiri mine (4 million gold ounces) and,

across the border in Mali, Glencar’s Yanfolila mine (1.2 million gold ounces). The Company

also holds highly prospective greenfield exploration ground at Kankan.

Organic growth has always been a key aspect of Avocet’s long term strategy, and this is

reflected in its pipeline of exciting exploration projects in six highly prospective countries.

South East Asia will continue to be a key area of growth. Projects such as Bakan, Doup,

Seruyung and Kay Tanda are progressing well and are testament to the Company’s

successful long term presence in South East Asia. In West Africa, Avocet now has access

to several highly prospective districts that are yet to be fully tested with modern exploration

techniques. West Africa is believed to host a number of undiscovered multi-million ounce

deposits, and Avocet is currently implementing an aggressive exploration policy to pursue

these targets.

West Africa is believed to host a number of

undiscovered multi-million ounce deposits
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Very encouraging gold intercepts in the Souma trend

– 16kilometre long geochemical trend
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RESOURCES AND RESERVES

MALAYSIAN (PENJOM) SUMMARY AT 31 MARCH 2009
(at a cut off grade of 0.8 g/t Au; reserves undiluted; pits generated at US$800/oz)

Gross Net attributable(2)

Tonnes Grade Metal Tonnes Grade Metal
Category (g/t Au) (ounces) (g/t Au) (ounces)

ORE RESERVES(1)
Kalampong (2)

Proved 151,000 3.50 17,000 151,000 3.50 17,000
Probable 1,372,000 4.11 181,400 1,372,000 4.11 181,400
Manik
Proved 118,000 3.19 12,100 118,000 3.19 12,100
Probable 194,000 3.24 20,200 194,000 3.24 20,200
Stockpiles
Proved 1,129,000 1.87 67,800 1,129,000 1.87 67,800
Probable – – – – – –

Ore Reserves subtotal 2,964,000 3.13 298,500 2,964,000 3.13 298,500

Depletion since 31 March 2008 719,000 3.47 80,200
Change from 31 March 2008(3) 25,000 5,500 1% 1%

MINERAL RESOURCES(1)
(excluding Ore Reserves)

Kalampong
Measured 22,000 2.40 1,700 22,000 2.40 1,700
Indicated 1,076,000 2.84 98,200 1,076,000 2.84 98,200
Inferred 3,321,000 3.30 352,600 3,321,000 3.30 352,600
Manik
Measured 50,000 2.18 3,500 50,000 2.18 3,500
Indicated 447,000 3.37 48,500 447,000 3.37 48,500
Inferred 561,000 4.27 77,000 561,000 4.27 77,000
Kurnia
Measured – – – – – –
Indicated – – – – – –
Inferred 77,000 4.73 11,700 77,000 4.73 11,700

Mineral Resources subtotal 5,554,000 3.32 593,200 5,554,000 3.32 593,200

Total 8,518,000 3.26 891,700 8,518,000 3.26 891,700

Change from 31 March 2008(3) (32,000) 42,100 0% 5%

(1) Mineral Resources and Ore Reserves in Malaysia are reported in compliance with JORC
(2) The Company owns 100 per cent of the Penjom mine
(3) Year on year change is before depletion



Gross Net attributable(2)

Tonnes Grade Metal Tonnes Grade Metal
Category (g/t Au) (ounces) (g/t Au) (ounces)

ORE RESERVES(1)
Riska(2)

Proved 1,112,000 2.24 80,000 889,600 2.24 64,000
Probable 41,000 2.88 3,800 32,800 2.84 3,000
Effendi(2)

Proved 2,502,000 1.07 86,100 2,001,600 1.07 68,900
Probable 472,000 1.22 18,500 377,600 1.22 14,800
Stockpiles(2)

Proved 295,000 2.88 27,300 236,000 2.87 21,800
Probable – – – – – –

Ore Reserves subtotal 4,422,000 1.52 215,700 3,537,600 1.52 172,500

Depletion since 31 March 2008 1,316,000 1.53 64,700
Change from 31 March 2008(3) 1,935,000 21,900 51% 8%

MINERAL RESOURCES(1)
(excluding Ore Reserves)

Riska(4)

Measured 3,945,000 1.07 135,100 3,156,000 1.07 108,100
Indicated 470,000 1.11 16,800 376,000 1.11 13,400
Inferred 540,000 3.10 53,800 432,000 3.10 43,000
Effendi(4)

Measured 1,289,000 0.96 39,700 1,031,200 0.96 31,800
Indicated 716,000 1.20 27,700 572,800 1.21 22,200
Inferred 284,000 1.46 13,300 227,200 1.45 10,600
Talugon(4)

Measured – – – – – –
Indicated – – – – – –
Inferred 600,000 2.59 50,000 480,000 2.59 40,000
Durian(5)

Measured 3,704,000 1.08 128,600 2,963,200 1.08 102,900
Indicated 3,573,000 0.84 96,500 2,858,400 0.84 77,200
Inferred 4,758,000 0.70 111,700 3,806,400 0.73 89,400
Osela(5)

Measured 1,716,000 1.48 81,600 1,372,800 1.48 65,280
Indicated 1,326,000 1.17 49,900 1,060,800 1.17 39,920
Inferred 1,797,000 0.90 50,800 1,437,600 0.88 40,640
Benteng(6)

Measured – – – – – –
Indicated – – – – – –
Inferred 11,590,000 1.31 489,400 6,954,000 1.31 293,600
Panang(6)

Measured – – – – – –
Indicated – – – – – –
Inferred 13,430,000 1.10 476,900 8,058,000 1.10 286,100

Mineral Resources subtotal 49,738,000 1.14 1,821,800 34,786,400 1.13 1,264,100

Total 54,160,000 1.17 2,037,500 38,324,000 1.17 1,436,600

Change from 31 March 2008(3) 26,569,000 1,059,000 92% 102%

(1) Mineral Resources and Ore Reserves in Indonesia are reported in compliance with JORC
(2) The Company owns 80 per cent of the North Lanut mine and Bakan project
(3) Year on year change is before depletion
(4) North Lanut mine
(5) Bakan project
(6) Doup Project
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INDONESIAN SUMMARY AT 31 MARCH 2009
(variable cut-off applied; excludes ore with copper content over 2,000 ppm; reserves undiluted; pits generated at US$800/oz; resources

above 0.3 g/t Au)
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RESOURCES AND RESERVES (CONTINUED)

WEST AFRICA SUMMARY AT MARCH 2009
(variable cut-off applied; Burkinabe resource cut off 0.5 g/t Au, Guinean resource cut off 0.3 g/t Au. Burkinabe reserves

calculated at a cut off grade of 0.5 g/t Au and pit shells calculated at US$550/oz)

Gross Net attributable(2)

Tonnes Grade Metal Tonnes Grade Metal
Category (g/t Au) (ounces) (g/t Au) (ounces)

ORE RESERVES(1)
Inata
Proved 4,472,000 2.3 329,000 4,020,800 2.3 296,000
Probable 10,952,000 1.7 615,000 9,860,800 1.7 553,000
Koulékoun
Proved – – – – – –
Probable – – – – – –

Ore Reserves subtotal 15,424,000 1.9 944,000 13,881,600 1.9 849,000

MINERAL RESOURCES(1)
(including Ore Reserves)

Inata
Measured 5,217,100 2.3 378,480 4,695,400 2.3 340,600
Indicated 19,843,300 1.6 1,018,450 17,858,900 1.6 916,600
Inferred 7,095,900 1.3 297,910 6,386,300 1.3 268,100
Koulékoun
Measured – – – – – –
Indicated 12,690,000 1.55 632,000 12,055,500 1.55 600,400
Inferred 720,000 1.48 34,500 684,000 1.48 32,800

Mineral Resources subtotal 44,566,300 1.62 2,361,300 41,680,100 1.62 2,158,500

(1) Mineral Resources and Ore Reserves in West Africa are reported in compliance with Canadian National Instrument 43-101
(2) The Company owns 90 per cent of the Inata gold project and 95 per cent of the Koulékon gold project
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Health and safety of employees and strict adherence to

environmental compliance are of

paramount importance

HEALTH, SAFETY AND ENVIRONMENT
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HEALTH, SAFETY AND ENVIRONMENT (CONTINUED)

The health and safety of the Group’s employees and strict adherence to environmental

compliance are of paramount importance, and Avocet recognises its responsibilities in

these critical areas (HSE). The Company ensures that a culture of continuous improvement

exists across all of its work locations through the use of hazard identification systems and

individual departmental audits. Its executive committee members use each visit to Avocet’s

mines, development or exploration sites as an opportunity to discuss HSE issues. The

Group’s local management will immediately report any incident, breach of HSE regulation,

or change in local regulations to the Chief Executive Officer who will immediately inform

the board as necessary. Safety efforts are underpinned by ensuring that:

• procedures and work practices are regularly reviewed and updated;

• protective equipment is correctly maintained and properly used;

• safety is a measure of individual, departmental and site performance;

• staff are adequately trained and instructed for their assigned duties;

• staff are trained in first aid, health issues and emergency response;

• positive encouragement is given toward safety awareness and initiatives;

• all incidents are promptly reported, assessed and actions taken;

• regular workplace inspections and audits are conducted; and

• regular safety inductions, meetings and training are provided.

MALAYSIA
Penjom continues to support numerous safety initiatives including first aid and fire fighting

training. Health monitoring is maintained as a mandatory requirement, including audiometry

and dust and noise monitoring. The year saw a continued focus on measures to reduce

operator fatigue particularly for equipment operators assigned to night shift operations.

Operator skills have been further enhanced by audit and training initiatives implemented by

an external consultancy. Training initiatives have focused on providing driver awareness

and defensive driving in an effort to introduce a culture of self discipline amongst the

equipment operators. A steady decline in property damage incidents and accidents within

the open pit environment reflects the success of these initiatives.

Penjom maintained compliance with respect to regulatory discharge criteria throughout

the year. During the year a larger primary detoxification pond was commissioned to allow

increased retention of effluent and therefore provide longer exposure to sunlight, which

reduces residual cyanide concentration to acceptable levels prior to discharge. This initiative

has underpinned ongoing compliance for environmental discharge from the mine following

the plant’s expansion. Further studies have been commissioned to detoxify an increasing

volume of effluent at the tailings facility which is exacerbated during heavy rainfall. It is

expected that an additional detoxification process will be commissioned in the coming year

to allow this initiative to be realised.

INDONESIA
North Lanut is committed to providing a safe and healthy working environment for all

employees, contractors and visitors to the Company’s operations. To this end, all personnel

are educated about their individual responsibilities within the Occupational Health and

Safety System utilised by the operation. Management believes that all incidents and

accidents can be prevented and seeks to comply with statutory safe work requirements

as well as striving for best practices at work.

Although full accreditation in the Occupational Health and Safety Audit System (OHSAS)

18001:2007 has not yet been achieved, the Company is complying with this system in all

areas of its Indonesian operations. The long term goal is to see the implementation of

OHSAS across all of Avocet’s activities. The further streamlining of Hazard Observation

saw a marked increase in observed and rectified hazards across the North Lanut project

with over 1,000 hazards reported for subsequent remediation. This is a measure of the

Health monitoring is

maintained as a mandatory

requirement
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seriousness with which North Lanut’s staff have committed to the safety system with the

majority of hazards reported by workers and supervisors, and is reflected by the fact that

North Lanut employees have worked over 10 million hours without a Lost Time Injury.

During the year development of the Emergency Response Team (ERT) continued, with

team members drawn from both permanent employees and contractors. The ERT is part

of a long term commitment to the transfer of skills and knowledge to local members of

the community.

BURKINA FASO
For Avocet’s operations in Burkina Faso the health and safety of its workforce, and

environmental stewardship within the community, are key priorities. Developing a

sustainable work environment has been an imperative since the commencement of

construction, and continues to be a focus for the Company as the Inata gold project

approaches commissioning and start-up.

The programmes in these areas begin with the health and safety induction of new

employees, contractors and visitors, and continue with the Company’s extensive training

programme to ensure compliance with regulations, but also to instil a culture of awareness,

sensitivity and risk management in respect of these issues.

All employees are issued with a safety handbook, which they are asked to review regularly,

and these books cover the key areas of health and safety, as well as Company policies and

procedures in other areas, including environmental management.

All of Avocet’s supervisors are trained in proper safety inspection techniques, hazard

identification risk assessment, and in how to hold effective safety meetings. Each morning

before commencing their work schedules, supervisors hold tool box meetings with their

workers to talk through the safety issues relevant to that day’s activities.

Performance in the area of health and safety is monitored by documenting all near misses,

incidents and accidents and by investigating these incidents,to ensure hazards are identified

and eliminated and that the proper corrective action is implemented to prevent

further occurrence.

Appropriate personal protective equipment is mandatory on site, and specific safe job

training and other resources are made available to workers, visitors, and contractors, where

applicable. In addition, appropriate emergency response procedures are developed, tested,

and maintained on a regular basis.

Environmental issues are a key focus area. At Inata the site environmental group works

continuously with the community, governments and third party consultants to develop

sustainable environmental programmes for mining operations, taking into account the direct

and indirect long term impact of the Company’s life of mine operations. Life of mine plans

are designed in close co-operation with local authorities, and the closure and reclamation

rehabilitation work is built into the plans from the start, including the rehabilitation of land

in accordance with the most appropriate post-mining land uses.

On an ongoing basis, water and air pollution levels are closely monitored, and water usage

is carefully controlled to ensure conservation of local fresh water supplies. All materials are

transported, handled, stored, and disposed of in a safe manner, and waste is minimised

through on site recycling wherever possible. The best technology available is used in the

design and construction of the tailings storage facility.

North Lanut

employees have

worked over

10 million hours

without a Lost

Time Injury
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COMMUNITY RELATIONS

MALAYSIA
Penjom continues to put great emphasis on nurturing good relationships with its local

community of Kuala Lipis. It supports and participates in community activities involving

hospitals, schools, sports and social events. The infrastructure in the Kuala Lipis community

around Penjom is generally good but where further development is needed in the district,

the mine assists wherever possible.

Penjom participates in a variety of fund raising activities organised by government and non-

government agencies in the district, such as the funding of a dialysis machine for Lipis

Hospital. The Company organises blood donation days and encourages its employees and

contractors to donate blood as part of an annual programme for the hospital.

In the field of education financial support is provided to the local schools as a priority. The

Penjom mine’s commitment to education has helped several schools in the Lipis District to

organise annual exam preparation and motivational camps. Local schools continue to receive

contributions towards their sports days and other extracurricular activities. The Penjom

mine also receives and trains several university students as part of their practical industrial

training in various disciplines. Assistance is also provided to local and overseas students to

undertake elements of their post graduate studies at Penjom. Several professional bodies

such as the Malaysian Institute of Mining and Metallurgy, the Geological Society of Malaysia

and the Malaysian Quarries Association have chosen Penjom as the field trip destination for

seminars and forums they have organised.

Penjom provides assistance to new local hard rock mines in the environmental control

required by the Department of Environment, especially with respect to cyanide

management and rehabilitation. Government agencies such as the police force also request

guidance in cyanide management.

Other community events also benefiting from Penjom’s support include the annual Lipis

Carnival, and sports activities organised by the District office, police and armed forces based

in Lipis. Penjom also participates in football, badminton and golf friendly matches and other

tournaments organised by local sports bodies.

INDONESIA
During the year the role of community relations within Indonesia was expanded to include

exploration areas as well as North Lanut and Bakan. Initial work on each site is conducted

through a baseline study to allow a better understanding of the stakeholders within the

community and the government groups. Following this, Avocet then forms a Community

Consultative Committee (CCC) in partnership with representatives from all stakeholder

groups at each location, including the security forces. The CCC aims to ensure that Avocet

is aware of and understands the specific needs and aspirations of all local community

stakeholders, in order to work constructively towards a sustainable future. At each monthly

CCC meeting programme suggestions are presented to Avocet, and Avocet and the

community representatives work together to prioritise projects and make a joint

commitment to complete certain projects before moving on to others.

Avocet has a number of ongoing community related initiatives, including:

• ongoing maintenance and improvement of roads and infrastructure around

surrounding villages;

• assisting villagers and government when natural disasters occur such as flooding

and subsidence;

• supplying clean water supply systems;

• providing assistance to agricultural groups both directly and by enlisting university

professionals. One example of the programme has seen the corn yield per hectare

increase by approximately 400 per cent;

Financial support

is provided to local schools

as a priority
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• establishment of a chilli farm project;

• construction of a fish farming project at the Jiko port area; and

• continuation of the mosquito eradication programme in the villages.

An assistance scheme is in place to support 200 orphans and handicapped children through

supply of food and buildings and through chicken programmes. Avocet has three orphans

who are fully sponsored to attend the local Kotamobagu University for forestry degrees. In

addition, a member of the Pononiungan orphanage has joined Avocet as an apprentice in the

North Lanut mine workshop.

The mine site community relations teams continue to monitor local villages and provide

support to underprivileged groups. Examples of the support programmes already in

place include:

• full education sponsorship of 70 school children;

• assistance to low income families by providing basic foodstuffs (rice and other

staples) and scholastic support where required through a monthly payment;

• completion of two separate programmes of free medicals and vaccinations for

over 1,000 adults and children at both Bakan and Lanut areas through the local

doctors who identify the treatment and vaccinations that are required; and

• provision of computers, chairs, desks and books to local schools and

government groups.

The socialisation of Avocet’s community relations programmes is promoted and comm-

unicated through the local television station and two local newspapers. Avocet also produces

a monthly news bulletin that is distributed to provincial, regional and local stakeholders.

During the year the North Lanut mine continued to receive a number of recommend-

ations from government and a local university under a partnership established to monitor and

assess the social and economic impact of the operation's activities. These recommendations

are incorporated into the operation’s ongoing programmes.

BURKINA FASO
The previous owner of the Inata gold project, Wega Mining, worked closely with the Burkina

Faso government in many areas to ensure that the project is sustainable not just as a viable

gold project, but also as a catalyst to an enterprising economy for local people and

communities within the local area. Avocet is committed to continuing to build on the

relationships that have been forged with all stakeholders, and will progress the key social

initiatives that have been in place since the beginning of construction. These programmes

include the development of medical facilities and educational programmes, which will remain

the two key mandates to improve the lives of people in the areas in which Avocet operates.

The Inata gold project is located in one of the poorer areas of Burkina Faso, a country which

is rated low in the Human Development Index of the United Nations Development

Programme. The Inata gold project will be the main source of employment in the Inata area

and is an opportunity for the Company, community and government to stimulate a sluggish

economy and generate a number of micro-enterprises. These partnerships will advance

educational opportunities for those who would otherwise never attend school, and will assist

in providing access to health care for people in these remote communities.

At a local level the Company has established a department which takes responsibility for

community issues in various villages in northern Burkina Faso. This community relations

department works closely with all stakeholders to ensure the Company makes positive,

sustainable contributions to the local and regional communities in which it operates.

Food and

buildings support
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FINANCIAL REVIEW

FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

Years ended 31 March 2005(1) 2006(1) 2007(2) 2008(2) 2009(2)

US$000

Revenue 71,060 90,493 108,236 128,703 97,042

Gross profit 18,559 18,182 22,865 54,948 19,446

Operating profit 15,936 14,561 18,268 48,038 4,832

Profit before tax 15,803 15,905 23,628 37,583 33,879

Profit attributable to the equity shareholders
of the parent company 11,686 10,819 17,619 28,348 24,524

Net cash generated by operations (before interest and tax) 17,092 19,942 25,844 65,435 23,659

Net cash (outflow)/inflow (11,525) 964 50,147 57,487 (49,739)

(1) Prepared in accordance with UK Generally Accepted Accounting Practice (UK GAAP). 2006 is restated to reflect FRS20 – Share based payments
(2) Prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS)

REVENUE
Group revenue decreased by 25 per cent to US$97.0 million as a result of gold sales of 111,280 ounces being 31 per cent lower than continuing

operations in 2008 (160,349 ounces), offset by realised gold prices being 13 per cent higher at U$870/oz (2008 – US$767/oz). In addition, the

previous year’s results included US$4.8 million of revenues (7,088 ounces) from the ZGC operation disposed of in that year.

Penjom gold sales were 17 per cent lower at 70,291 ounces (2008 – 84,319 ounces) with the average realised price increasing 30 per cent from

US$767/oz to US$869/oz. North Lanut sold 40,989 ounces (2008 – 76,030 ounces) at an average realised price of US$873/oz (2008 – US$775/oz).

GROSS PROFIT AND UNIT COSTS
The 65 per cent decrease in gross profit to US$19.4 million reflected lower levels of gold production and higher input costs, especially fuel and

reagents, partially compensated by an increase in gold prices during the year. Lower production volumes and higher costs led to an increase in unit

costs on a per ounce basis.

Total cash costs at Penjom increased by 58 per cent from US$334/oz to US$528/oz, due to a 38 per cent reduction in average grades in the year and

higher consumable costs. Total cash costs at North Lanut increased by 99 per cent to US$588/oz (2008 – US$295/oz), reflecting lower recovery levels

as the ore became more sulphidic. The Group’s total cash costs from continuing operations increased by 74 per cent to US$551/oz.

Operating Total Total
cash costs(1) cash costs(2) production costs(3)

Years ended 31 March 2009 2008 2009 2008 2009 2008

US$/oz

Penjom 467 280 528 334 613 365

North Lanut 581 288 588 295 682 436

Continuing operations 509 284 551 316 640 399

ZGC – 940 – 983 – 1,000

Group 509 311 551 344 640 424

(1) Includes all cash costs except royalties
(2) Operating cash costs plus royalties
(3) Total cash costs plus depreciation

Throughout this report, unit cash costs or cash costs per ounce refer to total cash costs, including royalties.



43Avocet Mining PLC Annual Report and Accounts 2009

The table below reconciles the Group’s cost of sales to the cash cost per ounce. Further detail is provided in note 4 to the financial statements.

Years ended 31 March 2009 2008

US$000

Cost of sales 77,596 73,755

Depreciation and amortisation (9,871) (13,579)

Changes in inventory (1,183) 1,414

Other adjustments including costs not directly related to production (5,998) (4,908)

Cash costs of production 60,544 56,682

Gold produced (ounces) 109,919 164,832

Cash cost per ounce (US$/oz) 551 344

PROFIT BEFORE TAX
The Group’s profit before tax decreased by 10 per cent from US$37.6 million to US$33.9 million. Excluding exceptional profits of US$24.8 million

from the mark to market gain on the Group’s gold collar in the year and US$2.3 million from the disposal of a ball mill, as well as US$8.2 million

of exploration cost impairments, the Group’s profit before tax decreased by 71 per cent from US$52.4 million to US$15.0 million. Administrative

expenses decreased by 8 per cent from US$5.3 million to US$4.9 million, and share based payment costs decreased by 7 per cent to US$1.5 million

from US$1.6 million. Finance income of US$2.4 million reflects interest income earned on funds placed on short term deposits, representing a

weighted average interest rate in the year of 3.1 per cent.

TAXATION
The Group’s taxation charge increased to US$9.6 million in the year (2008 – US$5.7 million) analysed as follows:

Years ended 31 March 2009 2008

US$000

Penjom, Malaysia 1,052 7,909

North Lanut, Indonesia 896 7,916

ZGC/CBM (UK) Limited, Tajikistan/UK – 47

Avocet Mining PLC, UK 7,699 (10,200)

9,647 5,672

The charge in Avocet Mining PLC includes a deferred tax adjustment of US$12.8 million resulting from the release of the Company’s previous mark

to market liability of US$45.6 million on the gold collar, which was closed out in the year. The credit in the prior year also related to deferred tax on

the mark to market liability. Reduced profitability at the Group’s operations in Malaysia and Indonesia resulted in lower tax charges.

CASH FLOWAND LIQUIDITY
The Group’s net cash generated by operations before interest and tax, decreased by 64 per cent to US$23.7 million (2008 – US$65.4 million) reflecting

lower gold production at both operations in the year. The Group’s year end cash balance decreased to US$72.4 million (2008 – US$122.6 million), after

capex of US$22.8 million, exploration expenditure of US$13.8 million, the cost of closing out the gold collar of US$20.8 million, and tax payments of

US$16.0 million (including US$6.0 million of overpaid tax in Indonesia as actual profit was less than expected at the time payments on account were made).

DEPRECIATION
The Group’s depreciation charge decreased from US$13.6 million in 2008 to US$9.9 million in 2009, analysed as follows:

Years ended 31 March 2009 2008

US$000

Penjom 6,037 3,003

North Lanut 3,820 10,442

ZGC – 118

Other 14 16

9,871 13,579

The reduction in depreciation was due to lower levels of gold production, with the majority of Group assets depreciated on a unit of production basis,

relative to gold ounces produced.
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CAPITAL EXPENDITURE
The Group’s capital expenditure decreased to US$36.6 million (2008 – US$43.9 million) analysed as follows:

Property, Property,
Deferred plant and Total capital Deferred plant and Total capital

exploration equipment expenditure exploration equipment expenditure
Years ended 31 March 2009 2009 2009 2008 2008 2008

US$000

Malaysia 2,998 11,557 14,555 1,818 25,412 27,230

Indonesia 10,203 11,251 21,454 11,917 3,689 15,606

Tajikistan – – – 209 222 431

Other 563 40 603 – 634 634

13,764 22,848 36,612 13,944 29,957 43,901

Property, plant and equipment in Malaysia included US$5.6 million of excess stripping costs that have been deferred as well as a further

US$6.0 million mainly relating to infrastructure projects at Penjom, including the Jelai creek diversion and tailings facility expenditure. In Indonesia,

deferred exploration expenditure of US$10.2 million reflected activity at North Lanut, Bakan and the Banda properties.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
The Company’s executive committee is responsible for arranging financing and for managing the commodity price, foreign currency, interest rate,

and liquidity risks of the Group. Related policies and procedures are reviewed and approved by the board. The Group’s policies prohibit transactions

that are speculative or unrelated to its trading activities. Instead, the Group seeks to reduce the volatility of its operating cash flows, and to match

the currencies of its borrowings with the currencies of its operating cash flows.

COMMODITY PRICE RISK
At 1 April 2008, the Company held a gold collar hedge with Macquarie Bank Limited. In August and September 2008 this position was closed at a

cost of US$20.8 million, since when the Company has been fully exposed to movements in the price of gold. Under the terms of the project finance

facility taken on by the Company through the acquisition of Wega Mining, 350,000 ounces of gold have been sold forward at a weighted average

price of US$958/oz over approximately five years.

FOREIGN CURRENCY RISK
As a producer of gold, the Group realises US dollars for all of its sales. To mitigate the impact of US dollar weakness on operating costs that are

not US dollar denominated, the Group occasionally purchases short term currency options. There were no such purchases during the year. The

Group may, from time to time, hold material cash balances in a currency other than the US dollar with the potential for short term foreign

exchange exposure.

INTEREST RATE RISK
At 1 April 2008 the Group’s only debt related to a US$137,000 finance lease in Indonesia which was repaid during the year. Cash balances are held

on current accounts that normally bear minimal interest, and on short term fixed deposits, whose interest rates are established at the time of

deposit, with reference to the current market rates, the duration of the term, and the amounts deposited. The Group does not currently use financial

instruments to hedge its interest rate exposure.

LIQUIDITY RISK
The Group’s objectives for managing its liquidity are to ensure that the maturities of any debt it may have are not beyond its ability to repay or

refinance, and that its operating subsidiaries have available to them local cash balances and lines of credit sufficient to fund their working capital

needs. During the year, the Group had a US$25 million revolving credit facility with Macquarie Bank Limited which remains undrawn, and which

amortised to US$16 million on 31 March 2009. In addition, the Company had a US$5 million overdraft facility with Barclays Bank PLC which was

undrawn and was not renewed during the year.

As a result of the acquisition of Wega Mining in June 2009, the Company took on a project finance facility of US$65.0 million with Macquarie Bank

Limited for the Inata gold project, of which US$55.8 million has been drawn down.

FINANCIAL REVIEW (CONTINUED)
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M J Donoghue

R S Robertson

Company Secretary
J E GMWynn

Senior management
EVesel

R Gray

P A Flindell

H-A L’orange

D P Stuart

A R H Frowde

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
J G Henry (42) – was appointed Chief Executive Officer in July 2006 having previously

been Finance Director since October 2002. He has held several positions with Avocet

since joining the Company in 1994, including the position of General Manager of the

Bishop facility in the USA.

A M Norris (44) – was appointed Finance Director in July 2007 having previously been

Chief Financial Officer since February 2007. He worked for L.E.K. Consulting, a firm

of strategic management consultants, before qualifying as a chartered accountant

with Coopers & Lybrand in 1993. He then held a number of senior financial and operational

roles within Rio Tinto plc and Anglo American plc. He was CFO at two of Rio’s mines

in the US and held the position of production manager at one of them, an open pit gold

mining operation.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
N GMcNair Scott (63) – has been non-executive Chairman of the Company since its listing

on the London Stock Exchange in 1996. He has been Finance Director of Helical Bar plc

since 1987. Previously he was a director of Johnson Matthey PLC and held various positions

in the Anglo American plc and Charter Consolidated groups. He had over 25 years’ direct

experience in the mining business before becoming non-executive Chairman of Avocet.

Sir Richard Brooke Bt. (70) – became a non-executive director in June 1995. He serves

on the board of Fidelity Special Values PLC and is chairman of other investment entities

associated with J O Hambro Investment Management Ltd. He was previously a director of

S. G. Warburg Group Plc, J O Hambro & Company Limited and a number of publicly quoted

investment trusts and other private companies. He has over 45 years of experience in all

aspects of the securities industry worldwide.

J F Newman (79) – became a non-executive director in February 1996. He has been

deputy Chairman of Blick plc and Chairman of Galloway Group, Rom River Co. Ltd and

Hoogovens UK Ltd. He has had a breadth of experience in the engineering industry.

Mr Newman has announced his intention to stand down at the Annual General Meeting in

September 2009.

R A Pilkington (63) – became a non-executive director in March 1996. He is a Managing

Director of UBS Investment Bank. He is also a director of ASA Limited, a closed end fund

specialising in gold and other precious mineral investments. Following an earlier career with

the Anglo American group, he has been an investment banker in New York for over 25 years,

and has advised some of the world’s leading gold mining companies.

M J Donoghue (60) – became a non-executive director in July 2006. He is a mining

engineer with over 30 years of experience in mining operations and new mine

developments in Africa, Australia, South East Asia and Europe. Currently he is the Executive

Chairman of Ormonde Mining plc. Previously he held the position of General Manager –

Operations of Delta Gold, Sydney, Australia.

R S Robertson (57) – became a non-executive director in February 2007. He is Chairman

of West China Cement Limited and Project Trust, and a director of BlackRock Smaller

Companies Trust plc. He has over thirty years experience in extractive industry and was

previously Chief Executive of Tarmac and Anglo Industrial Minerals.

Note: Ages are at 31 March 2009

CURRENT BOARD OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT



46 Avocet Mining PLC Annual Report and Accounts 2009

COMPANY SECRETARY
J E G M Wynn (36) – joined Avocet in November 2008 and was appointed Company Secretary in January

2009. He is a Chartered Accountant and was previously employed by Anglo American plc where

he held a number of roles within the finance, business development, and strategy departments of Anglo

Industrial Minerals.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT
E Vesel (45) – a mining engineer with management and technical experience in mining and process plant

operations. An experienced expatriate professional for over 20 years, having worked in Namibia, Australia,

Papua New Guinea, Indonesia and Malaysia. He joined Avocet in 1997 as Mining Manager and was promoted

to General Manager at Penjom and Country Manager in Malaysia in 2001. In July 2006 he was appointed

Chief Operating Officer after a two year period as Regional Director, South East Asia.

R Gray (50) – joined Avocet in June 2009 following the acquisition of Wega Mining. He has extensive

international experience in both underground and open pit mine operations. He has had a successful career in

developing mining companies, including 15 years working in South Africa for Gencor Ltd, and 10 years in

West Africa for Golden Star Resources Ltd. In addition to operations roles including VP and General Manager,

Chief Operating Officer and Director Operations, he also has various business and project development

experience including activities in the Dominican Republic and former Soviet Union. He holds a BSc (Hons)

Mining Engineering from the Royal School of Mines, Imperial College and an MBA from the Graduate School

of Business, Cape Town University.

P A Flindell (45) – a geologist with over 20 years’ experience in gold and copper exploration, resource evaluation

and reserve development in South East Asia, Central Asia and North America. He has played a key role in the

discovery and development of two gold mines in Indonesia, including Avocet’s North Lanut mine. He joined

Avocet as Chief Geologist in May 2002 following 12 years of experience with Newmont Mining Corporation.

H-A L’orange (46) – joined Avocet in June 2009 as EVP – Business Development and Investor Relations

following the acquisition of Wega Mining. Previously Mr. L’orange was Acting Chief Executive Officer of Wega

Mining, having held several positions within the company since 2007. Mr. L’orange has a strong background in

executive and financial management with a number of European-based public and private companies. As a

mergers and acquisitions and capital market specialist, he has managed and been involved in more than 20 such

transactions. He joined Wega Mining from Vyke Communications Plc, where he served as Chief Executive

Officer. Prior to that position, Mr. L’orange was Chief Executive Officer of Birdstep Technologies, Inc.

D P Stuart (44) – a mining engineer with over 23 years’ experience including more than eleven years working

in Indonesia. Formerly employed by Aurora Gold Ltd of Australia, he was seconded to several gold projects in

Indonesia including the Mt Muro gold and silver project in Central Kalimantan and the Toka Tindung project in

North Sulawesi. Previously he was employed in both the Goldfields mining region and the Pilbara iron ore mining

region of Western Australia. In June 2005 he joined Avocet as General Manager at North Lanut, becoming

Indonesian Country Manager shortly thereafter, then General Manager, Technical Services in April 2008, before

taking on his current role as General Manager of the Penjom mine.

A R H Frowde (47) – a geologist with over 23 years experience including more than 18 years working in

Indonesia. Formally employed by Archipelago Resources he worked at the Toka Tindung gold project in North

Sulawesi and the Mt Muro gold and silver project in Central Kalimantan. Prior to that he worked on the feasibility

study for Austindo’s Cibaliung gold mine in Java, for Straits Resources on projects in Kalimantan and Java,

Aurora Gold’s Mt Muro project on two occasions including the feasibility study and Newmont’s gold projects in

North Sulawesi. In October 2007 he joined Avocet as the Resource Development Manager at North Lanut and

was then promoted to General Manager in October 2008 and President Director in December 2008.

Note: Ages are at 31 March 2009

CURRENT BOARD OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
(CONTINUED)
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The directors are pleased to present their report together with the audited financial statements of the Company and of the Group for the year ended

31 March 2009.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITY AND BUSINESS REVIEW
The Group's principal activity during the year continued to be gold mining, mineral processing and exploration. Further information is included within

the Chairman's Statement, the Chief Executive Officer’s Statement and the Operating Review.

FUTURE DEVELOPMENTS
The Group’s future developments are outlined in the Chairman's Statement and the Chief Executive Officer’s Statement.

COMPANY’S LISTING
The Company’s ordinary shares have traded on London’s Alternative Investment Market (AIM) since 26 July 2002. Previous to that the Company was

listed on the London Stock Exchange main market for listed securities (the Official List). Ambrian Partners Limited acts as the Company’s nominated

adviser (NOMAD) and joint broker. J.P. Morgan Cazenove Limited acts as the Company’s lead broker.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS
The Group made a profit for the year of US$24,232,000 (2008 – US$31,911,000). The financial results are explained in the Chief Executive Officer’s

Statement and the Financial Review. The directors do not recommend the payment of a dividend.

POST BALANCE SHEET EVENTS
On 23 June 2009, Avocet completed the acquisition of Wega Mining ASA, a company listed on the Oslo Børs. Through the acquisition, Avocet

acquired a number of mining and exploration assets in West Africa. Further details are included in the Chairman’s and Chief Executive Officer’s

Statements, in the Operating Review, and in note 35 to the Financial Statements.

KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS
The Group monitors its key performance indicators (KPIs) on a monthly basis or more frequently, and when KPIs diverge from expectation, an

investigation is carried out and appropriate action taken. The Group’s KPIs for each operation for the year are shown in the highlights tables within

the Operating Review commencing on page 16.

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES
The Principal risks and uncertainties facing the Group are outlined within the Report on Corporate Governance and the Financial Review, and in note 2

to the financial statements.

DIRECTORS AND THEIR INTERESTS IN SHARES
The names of the current directors are shown on page 45 and details of their interests in the share capital of the Company are shown on

page 56.

N G McNair Scott, Sir Richard Brooke Bt., R A Pilkington, R S Robertson, J G Henry and A M Norris, being eligible, offer themselves for re-election

at the Company’s Annual General Meeting (AGM).

REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS



SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS
At 23 June 2009 the following had notified the Company of disclosable interests in three per cent or more of the nominal value of the

Company's shares:

Name Shareholding %

Elliott International, L.P. and Elliott Associates, L.P. 31,773,701 26.22

J.P. Morgan Asset Management (UK) Limited 12,150,000 10.03

BlackRock Inc. 10,073,176 8.31

Artemis Investment Management Limited 6,817,698 5.63

Invesco Ltd 6,220,003 5.13

N G McNair Scott 6,133,452 5.06

In addition, a total of 73,044,723 new shares are to be issued in relation to the acquisition of Wega Mining, increasing the issued share capital to

194,211,253 shares. This includes 24,404,896 shares to be allotted to Datum AS (representing a shareholding of 12.57 per cent).

As a result of this transaction, the shareholdings greater than three per cent of the total issued share capital are expected to be:

Name Shareholding %

Elliott International, L.P. and Elliott Associates, L.P. 31,773,701 16.36

Datum AS 24,404,896 12.57

J.P. Morgan Asset Management (UK) Limited 12,150,000 6.26

BlackRock Inc. 10,073,176 5.19

Artemis Investment Management Limited 6,817,698 3.51

Invesco Ltd 6,220,003 3.20

N G McNair Scott 6,133,452 3.16

CREDITOR PAYMENTS
It is the Group’s policy to agree the terms of payment with suppliers when entering into contracts and to meet its obligations accordingly. The

Group does not follow any specific published code or standard on payment practice.

DONATIONS
As in previous years, no donations were made for political purposes during the year.

STATEMENT OF DIRECTORS' RESPONSIBILITIES
The directors are responsible for preparing the Annual Report and the Group financial statements in accordance with applicable law and International

Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the European Union. The parent company financial statements have been prepared in accordance

with applicable law and United Kingdom Accounting Standards (United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice).

Company law requires the directors to prepare financial statements for each financial year. The financial statements are required by law to give a

true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Company and the Group and of the profit or loss of the Group for that period. In preparing these financial

statements, the directors are required to:

• select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently;

• make judgments and estimates that are reasonable and prudent;

• state whether applicable accounting standards have been followed, subject to any material departures disclosed and explained in the

financial statements; and

• prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis unless it is inappropriate to presume that the Group will continue in business.

REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS (CONTINUED)
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The directors are responsible for keeping proper accounting records that disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position of the

Company and the Group and enable them to ensure that the financial statements comply with the Companies Act 1985. They are also responsible

for safeguarding the assets of the Company and the Group and hence for taking reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other

irregularities.

In so far as each of the directors is aware:

• there is no relevant audit information of which the Company's auditors are unaware; and

• the directors have taken all steps that they ought to have taken to make themselves aware of any relevant audit information and to

establish that the auditors are aware of that information.

The directors are responsible for the maintenance and integrity of the corporate and financial information included on the Company's website.

Legislation in the United Kingdom governing the preparation and dissemination of financial statements may differ from legislation in other jurisdictions.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
A report on corporate governance is provided on pages 50 to 52.

EMPLOYEES
The Company has, and continues to put in place, appropriate structures to make Avocet a rewarding place to work and to retain its valued employees.

The Group’s policy on employee involvement is stated within the Corporate Governance report.

HEALTH, SAFETY AND ENVIRONMENT
Details of the Group’s activities relating to health, safety and the environment are provided on page 37 to 39.

ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING
Details are given on pages 97 to 99 of business to be considered at the AGM.

On behalf of the board

J G Henry

23 June 2009
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REPORT ON CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

In July 2005 the Quoted Companies Alliance (QCA) published Corporate Governance Guidelines for AIM Companies. In July 2006 the Company’s

board agreed to adopt these guidelines with which it has been in full compliance throughout the year.

The board remains accountable to the Company’s shareholders for good corporate governance and continues to strive for the highest standards.

A summary of the matters that require action or approval by the board is compliant with Appendix A of the QCA published Corporate Governance

Guidelines for AIM Companies.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS
The Company supports the concept of an effective board leading and controlling the Company. The board is responsible for approving Company policy

and strategy. It meets at least every three months and is supplied with appropriate and timely information. The directors are free to seek any further

information they consider necessary. All directors have access to advice from the Company Secretary and independent professionals at the

Company’s expense. Training is available for new directors and other directors as necessary. A number of the Group’s key strategic and operational

decisions are reserved exclusively for the decision of the board.

The board consists of two executive directors who hold the key operational positions in the Company and six non-executive directors, who bring a

breadth of experience and knowledge, all of whom are independent of management and any business or other relationship which could interfere

with the exercise of their independent judgement. The board’s make up provides a balance whereby the board’s decision making cannot be

dominated by an individual or small group. The Chairman of the board is N G McNair Scott and the Company’s business has been managed since

July 2006 by J G Henry, the Chief Executive Officer. The board has named Sir Richard Brooke Bt. as the senior independent non-executive director.

The board members are profiled on page 45.

The Company notes the QCA’s view that independence of action is likely to be lost the longer a director serves on the board. The period of nine years

has been put forward by the QCA as the time by which independence may be deemed to be compromised. The directors of the Company take the

view that the breadth of experience of the six non-executive directors, their knowledge of the Company after a significant period of service, and their

detachment from the day to day issues within the Company provide a sufficiently strong and experienced balance with the executive members of

the board.

This breadth of experience, allied to the management information provided by the Company, enables the non-executive board members to assess

and advise the executives on the major risks faced by the Company. In view of this the board continues to believe that shareholders should regard

all the Company’s non-executive directors as independent.

In keeping with the provisions of the QCA the directors of the Company acknowledge that a number of the non-executive directors have served for

a period that exceeds nine years. Therefore N G McNair Scott, Sir Richard Brooke Bt. and R A Pilkington continue to offer themselves for re-election

to the board on an annual basis.

J F Newman has announced his intention to stand down as a director at the AGM in September 2009.

BOARD PERFORMANCE
The board conducted a formal process to evaluate its effectiveness and that of the board committees and individual directors. Each director’s

performance was appraised by the Chairman reflecting input from the other directors: the senior non-executive director appraised the Chairman’s

performance on the same basis. This evaluation process takes place annually and aims to cover board dynamics, board capability, board process,

board structure, corporate governance, strategic clarity and alignment and the performance of individual directors.

BOARD MEETINGS
In addition to ad hoc meetings arranged to discuss particular transactions and events and the AGM, the full board met on six occasions during the

year. The Audit committee met on two occasions, the Remuneration committee on one occasion and the Nomination committee on one occasion.

The attendance record of the directors during the year is shown in the following table.
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Full Audit Remuneration Nomination
board committee committee committee

J G Henry 6 n/a n/a n/a

A M Norris 6 n/a n/a n/a

N G McNair Scott 6 2 1 1

Sir Richard Brooke Bt. 6 2 1 1

J F Newman 6 2 1 1

R A Pilkington 6 2 1 1

M J Donoghue 5 n/a n/a n/a

R S Robertson 6 2 n/a n/a

NOMINATION COMMITTEE
The Nomination committee meets at least once per year to select and recommend to the board suitable candidates for both executive and

non-executive appointments to the board. The membership of the committee comprises N G McNair Scott (Chairman), Sir Richard Brooke Bt.,

J F Newman and R A Pilkington.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE
The Remuneration committee reviews the performance of the executive directors and sets the scale and structure of their remuneration on the basis

of their service agreements with due regard to the interests of the shareholders and the performance of the Group. The Remuneration committee

also makes recommendations to the board concerning employee incentives, including the allocation of share issues to employees. Directors of the

Group are not permitted to participate in discussions or decisions of the committee concerning their own remuneration. The membership of the

committee comprises N G McNair Scott (Chairman), Sir Richard Brooke Bt., J F Newman, R A Pilkington, M J Donoghue and R S Robertson.

M J Donoghue and R S Robertson were appointed members of the Remuneration committee on 23 June 2009. The committee’s report is set out

on pages 53 to 56.

AUDIT COMMITTEE
The committee is chaired by Sir Richard Brooke Bt. and also comprises N G McNair Scott, R S Robertson, J F Newman R A Pilkington and

M J Donoghue. M J Donoghue was appointed a member of the Audit committee on 23 June 2009.

The Audit committee meets at least twice a year and provides a forum for reporting by the Company’s external auditors. Meetings are also attended,

by invitation, by other members of the board and senior management as appropriate. The Audit committee is responsible for reviewing a wide

range of financial matters including the status of the Company as a going concern and the interim and annual financial statements prior to their

submission to the board. The Audit committee keeps under review whether an internal audit function would add value to the Company, and also

the extent of non-audit services supplied by the external auditors to the Company.

SERVICE CONTRACTS
No director has any service contracts, consultancy agreements or other such arrangements with a notice period in excess of one year.

GOING CONCERN
After making enquiries and considering the matters referred to in the financial review and the basis of the financial statements’ preparation, the

directors have a reasonable expectation that the Group has adequate resources to continue in operational existence for the foreseeable future. For

this reason they continue to adopt the going concern basis in preparing the financial statements.

AUDITORS
A resolution to re-appoint Grant Thornton UK LLP as auditors will be proposed at the AGM.

NON-AUDIT SERVICES
The board is satisfied that the provision of non-audit services is compatible with the general standard of independence for auditors and does not give

rise to any conflict of interest. The board keeps its non-audit advisers under continual review.
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INTERNAL CONTROL
The board is responsible for maintaining a sound system of internal control to safeguard shareholders’ investment and the Company’s assets. Such

a system is designed to manage, but may not eliminate, the risk of failure to achieve business objectives. There are inherent limitations in any

control system and, accordingly, even the most effective system can provide only reasonable, and not absolute, assurance against material

misstatement or loss.

In accordance with the guidance of the Turnbull Committee on Internal Control, an ongoing process has been established for identifying, evaluating

and managing risks faced by the Company. This process has been in place throughout the year and to the date of approval of these financial

statements and includes the following features:

• key risks and the impact of these to the Group’s business are reviewed and considered by the directors;

• the board reviews these key risks as part of the budget approval process;

• executive directors visit each operation regularly, when these key risks are reviewed and actions taken as necessary;

• control procedures have been communicated to operations’ management who review local procedures for Group compliance;

• the head office finance function visits each operation to review local financial controls and compliance with Group procedures and report to

the board;

• the Group has a comprehensive system for financial reporting. The board approves the annual budget and five year forecast. Monthly results

are reported against budgets and variances analysed. Great importance is placed on the monitoring and control of cash flows, and cash

forecasts are reported to the board;

• as part of the year end external audit, management have requested the local auditors of each operation, including the head office in London,

to prepare a management letter on their findings on the internal financial controls. This is reported to and reviewed by the Audit committee;

• the external auditors periodically carry out a review of the head office’s internal financial controls and report to management and the

Audit committee;

• the board has to approve all long term currency, commodity and interest rate hedging, along with all capital investment projects and

debt facilities; and

• the Chairman and the executive directors (together the Chairman’s sub-committee) meet on a regular basis to discuss the management of

the Group and review any business risk and actions necessary. Minutes of these meetings are circulated to the board.

RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES
The principal risks facing the Group are those relating to the volatility of the gold market, reliance on the expertise of key Group personnel, as well

as risks connected with uncertainties of the Indonesian, Malaysian and Burkinabe political, fiscal and legal systems, including taxation and currency

fluctuations, as well as those regimes in which the Group has direct or indirect interests.

EMPLOYEES
Regular meetings are held with employee representatives to discuss strategies and the financial position of the Group and their own business

units. The Group is committed to provide equal opportunity for individuals in all aspects of employment.

RELATIONSWITH SHAREHOLDERS
The Company values the views of its shareholders and recognises their interest in the Company’s strategy and performance, board membership and

quality of management. It therefore holds regular meetings with, and presentations to, its institutional and private shareholders to discuss its

objectives. The Company also regularly meets, with the help of its brokers, institutions that do not currently hold shares in the Company, to inform

them of its objectives.

The AGM is used to communicate with institutional and private investors and they are encouraged to participate. The Chairmen of the Audit,

Remuneration and Nomination committees are available to answer questions. Separate resolutions are proposed on each issue so that they can be

given proper consideration and there is a resolution to approve the Annual Report and Accounts, and to approve the report on directors’ remuneration.

The Company counts all proxy votes and will indicate the level of proxies lodged on each resolution, after it has been dealt with by a show of hands.

The Company operates and regularly updates its website (www.avocet.co.uk) with shareholder information.

The Company has engaged the services of Buchanan Communications to help in its financial public relations strategy.

REPORT ON CORPORATE GOVERNANCE (CONTINUED)
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The 2008 Remuneration Report was approved by shareholders at the September 2008 AGM.

The Remuneration committee is chaired by N G McNair Scott. Its other members are Sir Richard Brooke Bt. J F Newman, R A Pilkington,

R S Robertson and M J Donoghue. All members of the committee are independent non-executive directors. The committee determines an overall

remuneration package for executive directors in order to attract and retain high quality executives.

None of the committee has any personal financial interest in the matters to be decided, other than as shareholders, nor any day to day involvement

in running the business. All directors are required to submit to the board on an annual basis a declaration of their interests, and to seek approval from

the board whenever these interests change that such changes do not cause a conflict in the interests of the individual in his capacity as a member

of the board.

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION
POLICY ON EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

The Company operates within a competitive environment and its performance depends on the individual contributions of the directors and employees.

Executive remuneration packages are designed to attract, motivate and retain directors of the calibre necessary to manage the Group's operations

and to reward them for enhancing shareholder value. The performance measurement of the executive directors and the determination of their

annual remuneration package are undertaken by the committee.

The executive directors’ remuneration packages may include:

(i) basic annual salary; (iv) annual cash and share bonus payments;

(ii) benefits; (v) share options; and

(iii) pension contributions; (vi) long term share incentives.

Each executive director's basic salary and pension contributions are reviewed annually by the committee. In deciding upon appropriate levels of

remuneration the committee has regard to rates of pay for similar jobs in comparable companies as well as internal factors such as performance.

Executive directors' basic salaries were last reviewed with effect from 1 July 2009 at which time no changes to basic salaries were made.

The committee establishes the objectives which must be met for a cash and deferred share bonus to be paid. The committee believes that the

award of any annual bonuses should be tied to the interests of the Company's shareholders and that the principal measure of those interests is

shareholder value.

The executive directors may participate in share incentive schemes recommended by the Remuneration committee for the Group’s key employees.

SHARE BONUS PLAN
In order to ensure the Company continues to be able to attract and retain high calibre senior management, in July 2006 the Remuneration committee

approved a share bonus plan for executive directors and senior management not on the board. The plan operates as follows:

• of the total bonus award, 50 per cent is at the discretion of the Remuneration committee, with the remaining 50 per cent determined by the

Company’s share price performance measured against that of the companies included in the FTSE Gold Mines Index (the Index Constituents);

• as shown in the table below, the non-discretionary share awards are made on a sliding scale whereby higher awards are made when the

Company’s shares perform above or within the higher quartiles. Should the shares perform in the lower half of the index, awards are at the

discretion of the Remuneration committee;

Performance vs Index Constituents Share award value as percentage of salary(1)

Exceeds all Index Constituents up to 200%

Within quartiles: First (top) up to 150%

Second up to 100%

Third and fourth awards at discretion of the Remuneration committee

(1) Based on individual criteria for each employee

• bonuses are ordinarily paid in shares, although the Remuneration committee may elect to pay up to 50 per cent of the value of any award to

an individual in cash;

• half of any share awards will be restricted for sale for a period of 12 months should the employee remain in the Company’s employment for

this period of restriction; and

• the scheme is reviewed by the board on an annual basis. Participation in the plan is at the discretion of the board and during the year

comprised the two executive directors as well as E Vesel and P A Flindell.

The Company’s share performance in the year just ended placed it in the fourth quartile.

REPORT ON DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION
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REPORT ON DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION (CONTINUED)

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION
CHAIRMAN’S FEES AND LETTER OF APPOINTMENT

It is the Company’s policy that the Chairman should be remunerated on a competitive basis and at a level which reflects his contribution to the Group,

as assessed by the board. He does not participate in the Group’s pension arrangements and a formal letter of appointment setting out his duties and

responsibilities is available for inspection at the Company’s registered office and AGM. Details of his fees can be found on page 56.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS’ FEES AND LETTERS OF APPOINTMENT

The board as a whole, with the benefit of independent professional advice, determines non-executive directors’ fees, although non-executive

directors do not vote on any increases of their own fees. Fees are set to reflect the responsibilities and time spent by the directors on the affairs of

the Company. They do not participate in the Group’s pension arrangements. Non-executive directors have a formal letter of appointment setting

out their duties and responsibilities which are available for inspection at the Company’s registered office and AGM. Details of non-executive directors’

fees are set out on page 56.

DIRECTORS' CONTRACTS
Executive directors currently have employment contracts, which may be terminated by the Company with up to one year’s notice. No other payments

are made for compensation for loss of office unless otherwise agreed by the Remuneration committee.

The Chairman and other non-executive directors currently have employment contracts which may be terminated by the Company with up to one

year’s notice. No other payments are made for compensation for loss of office.

LONG TERM EMPLOYEE SHARE AWARDS
The Company has established an offshore Employee Benefit Trust (EBT) and a UK Share Incentive Plan (SIP). These plans were set up in order to

reward employees for the performance of the Company on a long term basis and to enable the Company to continue to attract a high calibre of

management and operational personnel. Any awards under the EBT and SIP are approved by the Remuneration committee and members of the

plans must continue in the Company’s employment for at least one year in order for the shares to vest. At 23 June 2009 the EBT and SIP held a

combined total of 1,064,146 shares of the Company.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME
On occasion, the Remuneration committee considers whether a grant of options should be made under the share option schemes in place for the

Company, and if so, at what level. In arriving at a decision, the committee takes into consideration the personal performance of each executive as

well as remuneration practice for the Company’s peer group.

The share options held by the executive directors during the year were as follows:

Options Options Options Options Date
held at exercised granted held at from

31 March during during 31 March Exercise which Expiry
2008 the year the year 2009 price exercisable date

J G Henry 215,000 – – 215,000 35.5p 05/02/06 05/02/10

J G Henry 110,000 – – 110,000 72p 27/11/06 27/11/10

J G Henry 263,415 – – 263,415 82p 14/07/08 14/07/12

J G Henry 36,585 – – 36,585 82p 14/07/08 14/07/10

J G Henry 500,000 – – 500,000 175.75p 14/07/09 14/07/13

J G Henry 500,000 – – 500,000 103.25p 15/11/09 15/11/13

J G Henry – – 200,000 200,000 153.75p 10/07/11 10/07/15

A M Norris 500,000 – – 500,000 103.25p 15/11/09 15/11/13

A M Norris – – 150,000 150,000 153.75p 10/07/11 10/07/15

No directors exercised their options during the year.

The options are exercisable between three and seven years of being issued, subject to a performance condition requiring growth in the Company’s

net assets per share, and returns to shareholders, through share price increase and dividends, to be in excess of at least half of the companies in

the FTSE Gold Mines Index.
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EMPLOYEE BENEFIT TRUST
During the year the Remuneration committee approved the allocation (subject to certain conditions) of 499,169 shares from the EBT. Of these and

previous awards, the following were allocated to directors of the Company with the following vesting dates:

EBT EBT EBT EBT Latest
shares shares shares shares date
held at allocated released held at on which

31 March during during 31 March shares
2008 the year the year 2009 vest

Executive directors

J G Henry 70,629 74,295 (75,789) 69,135 09/07/11

A M Norris – 49,687 – 49,687 09/07/11

Non-executive directors

N G McNair Scott 54,129 8,799 (33,452) 29,476 09/07/11

Sir Richard Brooke Bt. 19,748 3,850 (12,866) 10,732 09/07/11

J F Newman 15,799 2,750 (10,293) 8,256 09/07/11

R A Pilkington 15,799 2,750 (10,293) 8,256 09/07/11

M J Donoghue 3,279 2,750 – 6,029 09/07/11

R S Robertson 3,279 2,750 – 6,029 09/07/11

All awards to the directors form part of the deferred share bonus payments included in their remuneration packages. All awards are made at the

recommendation of the Remuneration committee to the trustees of the EBT as the Company does not operate a defined bonus plan. During the

year no deferred bonus payments were recommended for the executive directors or senior management by the Remuneration committee in relation

to the share bonus plan.

The EBT held 1,039,984 shares at 23 June 2009.

SHARE INCENTIVE PLAN
The following SIP shares were allocated to directors of the Company with the following vesting dates:

SIP SIP SIP SIP Latest
shares shares shares shares date
held at allocated released held at on which

31 March during during 31 March shares
2008 the year the year 2009 vest

J G Henry 29,981 1,951 (20,344) 11,588 09/07/13

A M Norris – 1,951 – 1,951 09/07/13

J G Henry received 10,344 shares on 3 April 2008 and 10,000 shares on 2 July 2008 being shares that had vested from the SIP.

The Company’s share price ranged from a high of 186.5p to a low of 50p during the year with a closing mid price of 68.25p at 31 March 2009.
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DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS
Salary Benefits(2) Pension(3) Cash bonus Total

Years ended 31 March 2009 2008 2009 2008 2009 2008 2009 2008 2009 2008

US$000

Executive directors:

J G Henry 354 375 3 3 23 26 – 698 380 1,102

A M Norris 278 219 4 3 – – – 147 282 369

G L Toll(1) – 10 – – – – – – – 10

Non-executive directors (fees only):

N G McNair Scott (Chairman) 148 156 – – – – – – 148 156

Sir Richard Brooke Bt. 65 68 – – – – – – 65 68

J F Newman 46 48 – – – – – – 46 48

R A Pilkington 46 48 – – – – – – 46 48

M J Donoghue(4) 46 48 – – – – – – 46 48

R S Robertson 46 48 – – – – – – 46 48

1,029 1,020 7 6 23 26 – 845 1,059 1,897

(1) G L Toll resigned fom the board on 10 July 2007

(2) Benefits include medical allowances

(3) Pension contributions represent payments into the directors’ personal pension plans, which are money purchase schemes

(4) M J Donoghue, in addition to the director fees above, received US$37,877 for technical consulting

The directors and their beneficial interests in the shares of the Company were as follows.
Ordinary shares of 5p each
At 31 March At 31 March

2009 2008
or date or date

of appointment of appointment
if later if later

J G Henry 877,259 781,126

A M Norris 90,496 90,496

N G McNair Scott 6,133,452 6,100,000

Sir Richard Brooke Bt. 81,080 68,214

J F Newman 69,607 59,314

R A Pilkington 214,507 204,214

M J Donoghue 32,000 32,000

R S Robertson 130,000 130,000

Interests beneficially held by directors’ wives included in the above are as follows:

N G McNair Scott 34,563 34,563

Sir Richard Brooke Bt. 2,500 2,500

The SIP held a total of 24,162 shares at 23 June 2009. These shares are held in the name of N G McNair Scott who is one of two trustees of the

SIP. He has no beneficial interest in the shares held by the SIP. Of the 6,133,452 shares held by N G McNair Scott, 190,000 are held in the Avocet

Charitable Trust, in which N G McNair Scott has no beneficial interest.

There were no other changes to the directors’ shareholdings up to 23 June 2009.

REPORT ON DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION (CONTINUED)
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REPORT OF THE INDEPENDENT AUDITOR TO THE MEMBERS
OF AVOCET MINING PLC

We have audited the group financial statements of Avocet Mining PLC for the year ended 31 March 2009 which comprise the consolidated

income statement, the consolidated balance sheet, the consolidated statement of changes in equity, the consolidated cash flow statement and notes

1 to 35. These group financial statements have been prepared under the accounting policies set out therein.

We have reported separately on the parent company financial statements of Avocet Mining PLC for the year ended 31 March 2009.

This report is made solely to the company’s members, as a body, in accordance with Section 235 of the Companies Act 1985. Our audit work has

been undertaken so that we might state to the company’s members those matters we are required to state to them in an auditor's report and for

no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the company and the

company’s members as a body, for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we have formed.

RESPECTIVE RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS ANDAUDITORS
The directors' responsibilities for preparing the Annual Report and the group financial statements in accordance with United Kingdom law and

International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as adopted by the European Union are set out in the Statement of Directors' Responsibilities.

Our responsibility is to audit the group financial statements in accordance with relevant legal and regulatory requirements and International Standards

on Auditing (UK and Ireland).

We report to you our opinion as to whether the group financial statements give a true and fair view and whether the group financial statements have

been properly prepared in accordance with the Companies Act 1985. We also report to you whether in our opinion the information given in the Report

of the Directors is consistent with the financial statements. The information given in the Report of the Directors includes that specific information

presented in the Chairman's Statement, Chief Executive Officer's Statement, Operating Review, the Health, Safety and Environment Section,

Financial Review, Report on Corporate Governance and Notes to the Financial Statements that are cross referred from the sections of the Report

of the Directors on Principal Activity and Business Review, Future Developments, Results and Dividends, Post Balance Sheet Events, Key

Performance Indicators, Principal Risks and Uncertainties, Corporate Governance, Employees and Health, Safety and Environment.

In addition we report to you if, in our opinion, we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit, or if information

specified by law regarding directors' remuneration and other transactions is not disclosed.

We read other information contained in the Annual Report and consider whether it is consistent with the audited group financial statements. The

other information comprises only the Chairman's Statement, Chief Executive Officer's Statement, the Gold Market, the Operating Review, Health,

Safety and Environment, Community Relations, Financial Review, Report on Directors' Remuneration and Report on Corporate Governance. We

consider the implications for our report if we become aware of any apparent misstatements or material inconsistencies with the group financial

statements. Our responsibilities do not extend to any other information.

BASIS OF AUDIT OPINION
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland) issued by the Auditing Practices Board. An audit

includes examination, on a test basis, of evidence relevant to the amounts and disclosures in the group financial statements. It also includes an

assessment of the significant estimates and judgments made by the directors in the preparation of the group financial statements, and of whether

the accounting policies are appropriate to the group's circumstances, consistently applied and adequately disclosed.

We planned and performed our audit so as to obtain all the information and explanations which we considered necessary in order to provide us with

sufficient evidence to give reasonable assurance that the group financial statements are free from material misstatement, whether caused by

fraud or other irregularity or error. In forming our opinion we also evaluated the overall adequacy of the presentation of information in the group

financial statements.

OPINION
In our opinion:

• the group financial statements give a true and fair view, in accordance with IFRS as adopted by the European Union, of the state of the

group's affairs as at 31 March 2009 and of its profit for the year then ended;

• the group financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with the Companies Act 1985; and

• the information given in the Report of the Directors is consistent with the group financial statements.

GRANT THORNTON UK LLP

Registered Auditor

Chartered Accountants

London

23 June 2009
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CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT
For the year ended 31 March 2009

note 2009 2008

US$000 US$000

Revenue 4

Continuing operations 97,042 123,938

Discontinued operations 13 – 4,765

97,042 128,703

Cost of sales 4

Continuing operations (77,596) (65,004)

Discontinued operations – (8,751)

(77,596) (73,755)

Gross profit 4 19,446 54,948

Administrative expenses – continuing operations (4,889) (5,292)

Share based payments – continuing operations 28 (1,500) (1,618)

Exploration impairment 10 (8,225) –

Operating profit 4 4,832 48,038

Profit on disposal of non-current asset investments 8 – 8,904

Profit on disposal of discontinued operations 8,13 – 12,297

Profit on disposal of property, plant and equipment 10 2,332 –

Finance items – continuing operations

Gain/(loss) on gold collar not qualifying for hedge accounting 10 24,768 (36,025)

Exchange (losses)/gains (439) (190)

Finance income 11 2,388 4,655

Finance expense 11 (2) (96)

Profit before taxation

Continuing operations 33,879 29,272

Discontinued operations – 8,311

Profit before taxation 4,5 33,879 37,583

Analysed as:

Profit before taxation and exceptional items 9 15,004 52,407

Exceptional items – profits on disposals and gain/(loss) on gold collar 10 18,875 (14,824)

Profit before taxation 4 33,879 37,583

Taxation

Continuing operations (9,647) (5,625)

Discontinued operations – (47)

12 (9,647) (5,672)

Profit for the period

Profit for the period from continuing operations 24,232 23,647

Profit for the period from discontinued operations – 8,264

Profit for the period 4 24,232 31,911

Attributable to:
Equity shareholders of the parent company 24,524 28,348

Minority interests (292) 3,563

4 24,232 31,911

Earnings per share 14

Basic (cents per share) 20.32 23.59

Diluted (cents per share) 20.15 23.19

Earnings per share from continuing operations 14

Basic (cents per share) 20.32 16.23

Diluted (cents per share) 20.15 15.96

Earnings per share from discontinued operations 14

Basic (cents per share) – 7.36

Diluted (cents per share) – 7.23

The accompanying accounting policies and notes form an integral part of these financial statements
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET
At 31 March 2009

note 2009 2008

US$000 US$000

Non-current assets

Goodwill 15 9,899 8,678

Intangible assets 16 32,422 23,810

Property, plant and equipment 17 70,904 54,009

Other financial assets 18 7,239 8,323

Deferred tax assets 19 6,482 16,512

126,946 111,332

Current assets
Inventories 20 18,267 17,350

Trade and other receivables 21 10,541 5,287

Cash and cash equivalents 22 72,418 122,596

101,226 145,233

Current liabilities
Trade and other payables 16,678 17,684

Current tax liabilities 16 9,656

23 16,694 27,340

Non-current liabilities
Other financial liabilities 24 – 45,600

Deferred tax liabilities 19 4,417 3,579

Other liabilities 25 15,287 11,836

19,704 61,015

Net assets 191,774 168,210

Equity
Issued share capital 30 9,904 9,867

Share premium 53,400 52,834

Other reserves 31 9,556 11,454

Retained earnings 113,541 88,390

Total equity attributable to the parent 186,401 162,545

Minority interests 5,373 5,665

Total equity 191,774 168,210

These financial statements were approved and signed on behalf of the board of directors on 23 June 2009.

N G McNair Scott A M Norris

The accompanying accounting policies and notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
For the year ended 31 March 2009

Share Share Other Retained Minority Total
capital premium reserve earnings interest equity

US$000 US$000 US$000 US$000 US$000 US$000

At 1 April 2007 9,867 52,834 13,894 60,281 723 137,599

Profit for the period – – – 28,348 3,563 31,911

Exchange differences on translation
of foreign operations – – 168 – – 168

Revaluation of other financial assets – – (459) – – (459)

Total recognised income and
expense for the year – – (291) 28,348 3,563 31,620

Share based payments – – – 1,618 – 1,618

Losses on issue from treasury shares – – – (876) – (876)

Investment in own shares – – (2,149) – – (2,149)

Disposals – – – (981) 1,379 398

At 31 March 2008 9,867 52,834 11,454 88,390 5,665 168,210

Profit for the period – – – 24,524 (292) 24,232

Exchange differences on translation
of foreign operations – – 183 – – 183

Revaluation of other financial assets – – (4,117) – – (4,117)

Total recognised income and
expense for the year – – (3,934) 24,524 (292) 20,298

Share based payments – – – 130 – 130

Issue of shares 37 566 – – – 603

Losses on issue from treasury shares – – – 497 – 497

Movement on investments in
treasury and own shares – – 2,036 – – 2,036

At 31 March 2009 9,904 53,400 9,556 113,541 5,373 191,774

The accompanying accounting policies and notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT
For the year ended 31 March 2009

note 2009 2008

US$000 US$000

Cash flows from operating activities

Profit for the period 4 24,232 31,911

Adjusted for:
Depreciation of non-current assets 17 9,871 13,579

Exploration costs written off 10 8,225 –

Share based payments 28 1,500 1,618

Provisions 25 124 580

Taxation in the income statement 12 9,647 5,672

Non operating items in the income statement 29 (29,047) 10,455

24,552 63,815

Movements in working capital
Decrease in inventory (917) (2,687)

Decrease/(increase) in trade and other receivables 1,463 (1,959)

(Decrease)/increase in trade and other payables (1,439) 6,266

Net cash generated by operations 23,659 65,435

Interest received 11 2,388 4,655

Interest paid 11 (2) (96)

Income tax paid (16,023) (8,692)

Net cash generated by operating activities 10,022 61,302

Cash flows from investing activities
Net proceeds from disposals of non-current asset investments 8 – 46,149

Payments for property, plant and equipment 17 (22,848) (29,957)

Deferred consideration 25 (1,627) (1,994)

Exploration and evaluation expenses 16 (13,764) (13,944)

Net cash movement on sale of subsidiary – (87)

Net cash (used in)/generated by investing activities (38,239) 167

Cash flows from financing activities
Proceeds from issue of equity shares – 824

Gold collar contract close 10 (20,832) –

Treasury and EBT shares purchased (553) (4,164)

Capital repayments on finance leases 27 (137) (642)

Net cash used in financing activities (21,522) (3,982)

Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents (49,739) 57,487

Exchange losses (439) (190)

Total (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents (50,178) 57,297

Cash and cash equivalents at the start of the period 122,596 65,299

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the period 22 72,418 122,596

The cash flow of the Group’s discontinued activity (ZGC) is shown in note 4.

The accompanying accounting policies and notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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1. BASIS OF PREPARATIONANDADOPTION OF INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (IFRS)
The Group financial statements consolidate those of the Company and of its subsidiary undertakings; the consolidated financial statements have

been prepared in accordance with IFRS and International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee (IFRIC) interpretations as adopted by

the European Union at 31 March 2009.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention except for share based payments that are fair

valued at the date of grant and other financial assets and liabilities that are measured at fair value. The accounting policies applied in these

financial statements are unchanged from those used in the previous annual financial statements.

Certain amounts included in the consolidated financial statements involve the use of judgement and/or estimation. Judgements, estimations

and sources of estimation uncertainty are discussed in note 2.

The parent company financial statements in notes 36 to 52 present information about the Company as a separate entity rather than about the

Group, and have continued to be prepared under UK GAAP as permitted by the Companies’ Act 1985.

ACCOUNTING STANDARDS NOT YET IN ISSUE

At the date of authorisation of these financial statements, certain new accounting standards, and amendments to, or interpretations of, existing

standards have been published but are not yet effective. The Group has not early adopted any of these pronouncements. The new standards,

amendments and interpretations that are expected to be relevant to the Group’s financial statements are as follows:

IAS 1 PRESENTATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (REVISED 2007)

• effective for reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2009

IAS 23 BORROWING COSTS (REVISED 2007)

• effective for reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2009

IAS 27 CONSOLIDATED AND SEPARATE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (REVISED 2008)

• effective for reporting periods beginning on or after 1 July 2009

AMENDMENT TO IFRS 2 SHARE-BASED PAYMENT – VESTING CONDITIONS AND CANCELLATIONS

• effective for reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2009

IFRS 3 BUSINESS COMBINATIONS (REVISED 2008)

• effective for reporting periods beginning on or after 1 July 2009

IFRS 8 OPERATING SEGMENTS

• effective for reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2009

The directors anticipate that all the above pronouncements will be adopted in the Group’s financial statements for the year beginning 1 April

2009 and will have little impact on the Group’s accounting policies or results.

2. JUDGMENTS IN APPLYING ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND SOURCES OF UNCERTAINTY
Certain amounts included in the financial statements involve the use of judgement and/or estimation. These are based on management’s best

knowledge of the relevant facts and circumstances, having regard to prior experience. However, judgments and estimations regarding the future

are a key source of uncertainty and actual results may differ from the amounts included in the financial statements. Information about judgements

and estimation is contained in the accounting policies and/or other notes to the financial statements. The key areas are summarised below:

FUNCTIONAL CURRENCIES

Identification of functional currencies requires a judgement as to the currency of the primary economic environment in which the companies

of the Group operate. This is based on analysis of the economic environments and cash flows of the subsidiaries of the Group.

DEFERRED EXPLORATION EXPENDITURE

The recoverability of exploration amounts capitalised within intangible assets is assessed based on a judgement about the feasibility of the

project and estimates of its future cash flows. Future gold prices and operating costs are sources of estimation uncertainty.

CARRYING VALUES OF PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

The Group periodically makes judgements as to whether its property, plant and equipment may have been impaired, based on internal and

external indicators. Any impairment is based on estimates of future cash flows.
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DEFERRED STRIPPING COSTS

The recoverability of deferred stripping costs is assessed based on the projected future cash flows of the project. The amount deferred or

charged in each period is based on the projected current life of mine stripping ratio. Future changes in mineral resources, ore reserves or

waste volumes are a source of estimation uncertainty.

DEFERRED TAX

Estimates of future profitability are required when assessing whether a deferred tax asset may be recognised.

MINERAL RESOURCES AND ORE RESERVES

Quantification of mineral resources requires a judgement on the reasonable prospects for eventual economic extraction. Quantification of ore

reserves requires a judgement on whether mineral resources are economically mineable. These judgements are based on assessment of

mining, metallurgical, economic, marketing, legal, environmental, social and governmental factors involved, in accordance with the Joint Ore

Reserves Committee of The Australasian Institute of Mining and Metallurgy, Australian Institute of Geoscientists and Minerals Council of

Australia (JORC code). These factors are a source of uncertainty and changes could result in an increase or decrease in mineral resources and

ore reserves. This would in turn affect certain amounts in the financial statements such as depreciation, deferred stripping and closure

provisions, which are calculated on projected life of mine figures.

INVENTORY VALUATIONS

Valuations of gold in stockpiles, gold in process and gold in leach pads require estimations of the amount of gold contained in, and recovery

rates from, the various work in progress gold circuits. These estimations are based on analysis of samples and prior experience. A judgement

is also required about when stockpiles will be used and what gold price should be applied in calculating net realisable value; these are both

sources of uncertainty.

RESTORATION, REHABILITATION AND ENVIRONMENTAL PROVISIONS

Such provisions require a judgement on likely future obligations, based on assessment of technical, legal and economic factors. The ultimate

cost of environmental remediation is uncertain and cost estimates can vary in response to many factors, including changes to the relevant legal

requirements, the emergence of new restoration techniques and changes to the life of mine.

PROVISIONS AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

Judgements are made as to whether a past event has led to a liability that should be recognised in the financial statements or disclosed as a

contingent liability. Quantifying any such liability often involves judgements and estimations. These judgements are based on a number of

factors including the nature of the claim or dispute, the legal process and potential amount payable, legal advice received, previous experience

and the probability of a loss being realised. Several of these factors are a source of estimation uncertainty.

ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS

Accounting for acquisitions requires an estimation of the fair value of assets acquired and consideration paid, including deferred consideration.

These estimations are based on the condition and useful lives of assets, future gold production, and the projected cash flows generated.

Projections of future gold production are a source of estimation uncertainty in calculating deferred consideration.

3. ACCOUNTING POLICIES
CONSOLIDATION

The Group financial statements consolidate the results of the Company and its subsidiary undertakings using the acquisition accounting

method. On acquisition of a subsidiary, all of the subsidiary’s identifiable assets and liabilities which exist at the date of acquisition are recorded

at their fair values reflecting their condition on that date. The results of subsidiary undertakings acquired are included from the date of

acquisition. In the event of the sale of a subsidiary, the subsidiary results are consolidated up to the date of completion of the sale.

The Group uses the purchase method of accounting for the acquisition of a subsidiary. The cost of an acquisition is measured by the fair value

of the assets given, equity instruments issued and liabilities incurred or assumed at the date of exchange, plus costs directly attributable to the

acquisition. Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed in a business combination are measured initially at their

fair values at the acquisition date irrespective of the extent of any minority interest. The excess of the cost of acquisition over the fair value of

the Group’s share of the identifiable net assets acquired is recorded as goodwill. If the cost of the acquisition is less than the fair value of the

net assets of the subsidiary acquired the difference is recognised directly in the income statement as a gain. Goodwill acquired at the time of

the acquisition is reviewed annually to assess whether impairment of the carrying value is required.

Exchange differences arising from the translation of the net investment in foreign entities are taken to equity. All other transactions, balances

and unrealised gains and losses on transactions between Group companies are eliminated, unless the unrealised loss provides evidence of an

impairment of the asset transferred.
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3. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
EXCEPTIONAL ITEMS

Exceptional items are those significant items which are separately disclosed by virtue of their size or incidence to enable a full understanding

of the Group's financial performance. Transactions which may give rise to exceptional items include significant gains or losses on disposal of

assets and investments, movements in the fair value of hedge positions that do not qualify for hedge accounting, and the impairment of

capitalised exploration costs.

SEGMENTAL REPORTING

A business segment is a group of assets and operations engaged in production that is subject to risks and returns that are different from those

of other business segments. The Group’s segments are geographic by location of the Group’s assets, as operations in each country are separate

and each country has a different economic and regulatory environment. The Group’s current geographical segments are UK, Malaysia, and

Indonesia. The Tajikistan segment is now discontinued, and as the acquisition of Wega Mining ASA took place after the year end, Burkina

Faso is not included as a segment. The Group does not report geographic segments by location of customer as its business is the production

of gold which is traded as a commodity on a worldwide basis.

FOREIGN CURRENCY TRANSLATION

A. FUNCTIONAL AND PRESENTATIONAL CURRENCY

The functional currency of the Group is the US dollar, as the currency which most affects each company’s revenue, costs and financing. The

Group’s reporting currency is also the US dollar.

B. TRANSACTIONS AND BALANCES

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions.

Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions, and from the translation at reporting period end exchange

rates of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies, are recognised in the income statement.

On consolidation, exchange differences arising from the translation of the net investment in foreign entities are taken to equity.

REVENUE

Revenue is the amount receivable by the Group for goods supplied, and is recognised when confirmation of the refined metal is received from

the purchaser. VAT and similar local taxes and trade discounts are excluded.

GOODWILL AND DEFERRED CONSIDERATION

Goodwill is the difference between the fair value of the consideration paid and the fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities acquired.

Goodwill is capitalised and is subject to impairment testing on an annual basis or more frequently if circumstances indicate that the asset may

have been impaired. For the purpose of impairment testing goodwill is allocated to cash generating units.

Deferred consideration is payable in respect of Avocet’s 2002 acquisition of an 80 per cent interest in the Indonesian company now named PT

Avocet Bolaang Mongondow, based on the value of future production output. The value of future production output is reassessed on an annual

basis and additional consideration is provided for when its payment is considered probable; a corresponding increase in goodwill is recognised.

INTANGIBLE ASSETS

All costs associated with mineral exploration including those incurred through joint venture projects are capitalised within non-current intangible

assets pending determination of the project’s feasibility. If an exploration project is deemed to be economically viable based on feasibility

studies, the related expenditures are transferred to property, plant and equipment and amortised over the life of the mine on a unit of production

basis. Where a project is abandoned or is considered to be no longer economically viable, the related costs are written off.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Mining and milling plant and equipment, consisting of buildings, machinery, vehicles and fixtures and fittings, are depreciated over the shorter

of the estimated useful life of the asset or the life of the mine. Mining property for mines in production, including pre-stripping costs and

closure costs, are depreciated on a unit of production basis over the life of the mine. Residual values and useful lives are reviewed on annual

basis and changes are accounted for over the remaining lives.

STRIPPING COSTS

Stripping costs are the costs of removing overburden to expose ore. Stripping costs incurred prior to the commencement of production are

deferred and amortised on a unit of production basis. Stripping costs incurred during the production phase are deferred to the extent that the

waste to ore stripping ratio exceeds the average life of mine stripping ratio. All amounts deferred are subject to the directors’ review of recoverability.

TREASURY SHARES

Treasury shares are held at cost, and are deducted from equity. Any gain or loss on the sale or transfer of treasury shares is recognised in reserves.
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OWN SHARES

Own shares are held in the EBT and SIP (see page 55), and are recorded at cost, and deducted from equity. Any gain or loss on the sale or

transfer of these shares is recognised in the income statement for the period.

IMPAIRMENT OF GOODWILL, INTANGIBLE ASSETS AND PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

The Group carries out a review at each balance sheet date to determine whether there is any indication that the above assets are impaired. If

any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated based on future cash flows, in order to determine the extent of

impairment. Future cash flows are based on estimates of the life of mine reserves together with estimates of future gold prices and cash costs.

Goodwill is assessed on the basis of separate cash generating units. Goodwill and deferred exploration costs are tested for impairment at

least annually.

The recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less cost to sell and value in use. An impairment is recognised immediately as an expense;

where there is a reversal of the conditions leading to an impairment, the impairment is reversed as income through the income statement.

Impairments relating to goodwill are never reversed.

INVENTORIES

Inventories comprise consumables, work in progress and finished goods. Consumables are valued at average cost. Consumables and finished

goods are held at the lower of cost less a provision for obsolescence, and net realisable value. Work in progress consists of ore in stockpiles

and heap leach pads that are valued at the lower of average production cost and net realisable value. Net realisable value is the estimated selling

price less any applicable selling expenses.

FINANCIAL ASSETS

Financial assets are classified into the following specific categories which determine the basis of their carrying value in the balance sheet and

how changes in their fair value are accounted for: at fair value through the income statement, available for sale financial assets, and loans and

receivables. Financial assets are assigned to their different categories by management on initial recognition, depending on the purpose for which

the investment was acquired. The designation of financial assets is re-evaluated at every reporting date at which a choice of classification or

accounting treatment is available.

Available for sale financial assets are included within non-current assets unless designated for sale in which case they are included within

current assets. They are carried at fair value at inception and changes to the fair value are recognised through equity; when sold the accumulated

fair value adjustments recognised in equity are recycled through the income statement.

Trade and other receivables are measured on initial recognition at fair value.

Derecognition of financial instruments occurs when the rights to receive cash flows from the investments expire or are transferred and

substantially all of the risks and rewards of ownership have been transferred. An assessment for impairment is undertaken at least annually

at each balance sheet date whether or not there is objective evidence that a financial asset or a group of financial assets is impaired.

Non-compounding interest and other cash flows resulting from holding financial assets are recognised in profit and loss when received,

regardless of how the related carrying amount of financial assets is measured.

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Cash and cash equivalents are defined as cash on hand, demand deposits and short term highly liquid investments and are measured at cost

which is deemed to be fair value as they have short term maturities.

LEASES

Finance leases are recognised as those leases that transfer substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership. Assets held under finance

leases are capitalised and the outstanding future lease obligations are shown in liabilities at their fair value, or if lower at the present value of

the lease payments. They are depreciated over the term of the lease or their useful economic lives, whichever is the shorter. The interest

element (finance charge) of lease payments is charged to the income statement on a constant basis over the period of the lease.

All other leases are regarded as operating leases and the payments made under them are charged to the income statement in the period on

a straight line basis. The Company does not act as a lessor.

FINANCIAL LIABILITIES

Financial liabilities include bank loans and overdrafts and trade and other payables. In the balance sheet these items are included within Current

liabilities and Non-current liabilities. Financial liabilities are recognised when the Group becomes a party to the contractual agreements giving

rise to the liability. All interest related charges are recognised as an expense in ‘Finance costs’ in the income statement.

Trade and other payables are recognised initially at their fair value and subsequently measured at amortised costs less settlement payments.

As part of a strategy of commodity price risk management the Group had a gold collar consisting of purchased put options and sold call options

which restricted both the minimum and maximum prices available to the Company for its gold sales. This gold collar was closed out in

September 2008.
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3. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
INCOME TAXES

Current income tax liabilities comprise those obligations to fiscal authorities in the countries in which the Group carries out mining operations

and where it generates its profits. They are calculated according to the tax rates and tax laws applicable to the financial period and the country

to which they relate. All changes to current tax assets and liabilities are recognised as a component of the tax charge in the income statement.

Deferred income taxes are calculated using the liability method on temporary differences. This involves the comparison of the carrying amount

of assets and liabilities in the consolidated financial statements with their respective tax bases. However, deferred tax is not provided on the

initial recognition of goodwill, nor on the initial recognition of an asset or liability unless the related transaction is a business combination or

affects taxes or accounting profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are always provided for in full; deferred tax assets are recognised when there is sufficient probability of utilisation.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are calculated at tax rates that are expected to apply to their respective period of realisation, provided they

are enacted or substantively enacted at the balance sheet date.

PENSION OBLIGATIONS

The only defined benefit pension scheme operated by the Group relates to a former US subsidiary undertaking which is no longer part of the

Group. Accordingly full provision has been made for outstanding post retirement benefits.

The liability recognised in the balance sheet is the present value of the defined benefit obligation (DBO) at the balance sheet date less the fair

value of plan assets, together with adjustments for unrecognised actuarial gains or losses and past service costs. The DBO is calculated

annually by independent actuaries using the projected unit credit method or an accepted equivalent in the USA, and independent assumptions.

The present value of the DBO is determined by discounting the estimated future cash outflows using interest rates of high quality corporate

bonds that are denominated in the currency in which the benefits will be paid and that have terms to maturity approximating the terms of the

related pension liability.

Actuarial gains and losses are not recognised as an expense unless they exceed 10 per cent of the obligation. The amount exceeding this 10 per cent

corridor is charged or credited to the income statement. Actuarial gains and losses within 10 per cent of the obligation are disclosed separately.

PROVISIONS, CONTINGENT LIABILITIES AND CONTINGENT ASSETS

Other provisions are recognised when the present obligations arising from legal or constructive commitment, resulting from past events, will

probably lead to an outflow of economic resources from the Group which can be estimated reliably. Provisions are measured at the present

value of the estimated expenditure required to settle the present obligation, based on the most reliable evidence available at the balance sheet

date. All provisions are reviewed at each balance sheet date and adjusted to reflect the current best estimates.

RESTORATION, REHABILITATION AND ENVIRONMENTAL COSTS

An obligation to incur restoration, rehabilitation and environmental costs arises when environmental disturbance is caused by the development

or ongoing production of a mining property. Such costs arising from the decommissioning of plant and other site preparation work, discounted

to their net present values, are provided for in full as soon as the obligation to incur such costs arises and can be quantified. On recognition of a

full provision, an addition is made to property, plant and equipment of the same amount; this addition is then charged against profits on a unit of

production basis over the life of the mine. Closure provisions are updated annually for changes in cost estimates as well as for changes to life

of mine reserves, with the resulting adjustments made to both the provision balance and the net book value of the associated non-current asset.

SHARE BASED PAYMENTS

The Group operates equity settled share based compensation plans for remuneration of its employees.

All employee services received in exchange for the grant of any share based compensation are measured at their fair values. These are indirectly

determined by reference to the share option awarded. Their value is appraised at the grant date and excludes the impact of any non-market

vesting conditions (e.g. profitability or sales growth targets).

All share based compensation is ultimately recognised as an expense in profit and loss with a corresponding credit to retained earnings, net

of deferred tax where applicable. If vesting periods or other vesting conditions apply, the expense is allocated over the vesting period, based

on the best available estimate of the number of shares options expected to vest. Non market vesting conditions are included in assumptions

about the number of options that are expected to become exercisable. Estimates are subsequently revised if there is any indication that the

number of share options expected to vest differs from previous estimates. No adjustment to expense recognised in prior periods is made if

fewer share options are ultimately exercised than originally estimated.

Upon exercise of share options, the proceeds received, net of any directly attributable transaction costs, up to the nominal value of the shares

issued are reallocated to share capital with any excess being recorded in share premium.



67Avocet Mining PLC Annual Report and Accounts 2009

4. SEGMENTAL REPORTING

UK Total
March 2009 note (head office) Malaysia Indonesia (all continuing)

US$000 US$000 US$000 US$000

INCOME STATEMENT
Revenue – 61,199 35,843 97,042

Cost of sales 28 (44,954) (32,670) (77,596)

Cash production costs

– mining – (24,063) (11,153) (35,216)

– processing – (11,492) (7,194) (18,686)

– overheads – (2,229) (5,498) (7,727)

– royalties – (4,264) (287) (4,551)

– (42,048) (24,132) (66,180)

– Deferred stripping – 5,636 – 5,636

– (36,412) (24,132) (60,544)

Changes in inventory – 502 (1,685) (1,183)

Other cost of sales (a) 42 (3,007) (3,033) (5,998)

Depreciation & amortisation (b) (14) (6,037) (3,820) (9,871)

Gross profit 28 16,245 3,173 19,446

Administrative expenses and
share based payments (6,389) – – (6,389)

Exploration impairment (5,470) – (2,755) (8,225)

Operating (loss)/profit (11,831) 16,245 418 4,832

Profit on disposal of property, plant and equipment 2,332 – – 2,332

Net finance items
– gold collar mark to market 24,768 – – 24,768

– other 2,857 235 (1,145) 1,947

Profit/(loss) before taxation 18,126 16,480 (727) 33,879

Analysed as:

(Loss)/profit before tax and exceptional items (3,504) 16,480 2,028 15,004

Exceptional items 21,630 – (2,755) 18,875

Taxation (7,699) (1,052) (896) (9,647)

Profit/(loss) for the period 10,427 15,428 (1,623) 24,232

Attributable to:
Equity shareholders of parent company 10,427 15,428 (1,331) 24,524

Minority interests – – (292) (292)

EBITDA (c) (6,347) 22,282 6,994 22,929

(a) Other cost of sales represents costs not directly related to production;

(b) Includes amounts in respect of the amortisation of closure provisions at Penjom and North Lanut;

(c) EBITDA represents earnings before exceptional items, interest, tax and depreciation and amortisation, and is calculated by adding back

depreciation and amortisation and exploration impairment to operating profit. EBITDA is commonly used as an indication of underlying cash

generation; it is not defined by IFRS;



4. SEGMENTAL REPORTING (CONTINUED)

UK Total
March 2009 note (head office) Malaysia Indonesia (all continuing)

US$000 US$000 US$000 US$000

BALANCE SHEET
Non-current assets 25,119 51,776 50,051 126,946

Inventories – 8,909 9,358 18,267

Trade and other receivables 545 1,526 8,470 10,541

Cash and bank balances 55,833 11,054 5,531 72,418

Total assets 81,497 73,265 73,410 228,172

Current liabilities 3,025 9,304 4,365 16,694

Non-current liabilities 3,421 5,822 10,461 19,704

Total liabilities 6,446 15,126 14,826 36,398

Net assets 75,051 58,139 58,584 191,774

CASH FLOW STATEMENT
Profit/(loss) for the period 10,427 15,428 (1,623) 24,232

Adjustments for non-cash items (d) (13,138) 6,854 6,604 320

Movements in working capital (577) (1,534) 1,218 (893)

Net cash (used in)/generated by operations (3,288) 20,748 6,199 23,659

Net interest received 2,014 266 106 2,386

Tax paid (155) (2,059) (13,809) (16,023)

Purchase of property, plant and equipment (40) (11,557) (11,251) (22,848)

Deferred exploration expenditure (563) (2,998) (10,203) (13,764)

Other cash movements (e) (28,751) (5,272) 10,435 (23,588)

Total decrease in cash and cash equivalents (30,783) (872) (18,523) (50,178)

Employees - average number 15 562 417 994

(d) Adjustments for non-cash items include depreciation and amortisation, exploration impairment, share based payments, movement

in provision, taxation in the income statement and non-operating items in the income statement;

(e) Other cash movements include deferred consideration paid, gold collar close out and other cash flows from financing activities, and

exchange losses.
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4. SEGMENTAL REPORTING (CONTINUED)

Total
UK continuing Tajikistan

March 2008 note (head office) Malaysia Indonesia operations (discont’d) Total

US$000 US$000 US$000 US$000 US$000 US$000

INCOME STATEMENT
Revenue – 64,881 59,057 123,938 4,765 128,703

Cost of sales 3,980 (37,845) (31,139) (65,004) (8,751) (73,755)

Cash production costs

– mining – (19,986) (10,363) (30,349) (3,526) (33,875)

– processing – (8,108) (4,977) (13,085) (1,730) (14,815)

– overheads – (2,022) (6,049) (8,071) (1,254) (9,325)

– royalties – (4,541) (526) (5,067) (298) (5,365)

– (34,657) (21,915) (56,576) (6,808) (63,384)

– deferred stripping – 6,698 – 6,698 – 6,698

– (27,959) (21,915) (49,874) (6,808) (56,682)

Changes in inventory – (2,197) 3,789 1,592 (178) 1,414

Other cost of sales (a) 3,996 (4,686) (2,571) (3,261) (1,647) (4,908)

Depreciation and amortisation (b) (16) (3,003) (10,442) (13,461) (118) (13,579)

Gross profit/(loss) 3,980 27,036 27,918 58,934 (3,986) 54,948

Administrative expenses and
share based payments (6,910) – – (6,910) – (6,910)

Operating (loss)/profit (2,930) 27,036 27,918 52,024 (3,986) 48,038

Profit on disposal of non-current
asset investments 8,904 – – 8,904 – 8,904

Profit on disposal of
discontinued operations – – – – 12,297 12,297

Net finance items
– gold collar mark to market (36,025) – – (36,025) – (36,025)

– other 5,237 473 (1,341) 4,369 – 4,369

(Loss)/profit before taxation (24,814) 27,509 26,577 29,272 8,311 37,583

Analysed as:
Profit/(loss) before tax and
exceptional items 2,307 27,509 26,577 56,393 (3,986) 52,407

Exceptional items (27,121) – – (27,121) 12,297 (14,824)

Taxation 10,200 (7,909) (7,916) (5,625) (47) (5,672)

(Loss)/profit for the period (14,614) 19,600 18,661 23,647 8,264 31,911

Attributable to:
Equity shareholders of
parent company (14,614) 19,600 14,517 19,503 8,845 28,348

Minority interests – – 4,144 4,144 (581) 3,563

EBITDA (c) (2,914) 30,039 38,360 65,485 (3,868) 61,617

(a) Other cost of sales represents costs not directly related to production;

(b) Includes amounts in respect of the amortisation of closure provisions at Penjom and North Lanut;

(c) EBITDA represents earnings before exceptional items, interest, tax and depreciation and amortisation, and is calculated by adding back

depreciation and amortisation to operating profit. EBITDA is commonly used as an indication of underlying cash generation; it is not

defined by IFRS;
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4. SEGMENTAL REPORTING (CONTINUED)

Total
UK continuing Tajikistan

March 2008 note (head office) Malaysia Indonesia operations (discont’d) Total

US$000 US$000 US$000 US$000 US$000 US$000

BALANCE SHEET
Non-current assets 39,278 43,785 28,269 111,332 – 111,332

Inventories – 7,287 10,063 17,350 – 17,350

Trade and other receivables 813 801 3,673 5,287 – 5,287

Cash and bank balances 86,616 11,926 24,054 122,596 – 122,596

Total assets 126,707 63,799 66,059 256,565 – 256,565

Current liabilities 3,995 10,482 12,863 27,340 – 27,340

Non-current liabilities 50,470 4,839 5,706 61,015 – 61,015

Total liabilities 54,465 15,321 18,569 88,355 – 88,355

Net assets 72,242 48,478 47,490 168,210 – 168,210

CASH FLOW STATEMENT
(Loss)/profit for the period (14,614) 19,600 18,661 23,647 8,264 31,911

Adjustments for non-cash items (d) 1,021 10,439 20,279 31,739 165 31,904

Movements in working capital 14,756 5,251 (6,196) 13,811 (12,191) 1,620

Net cash generated from operations 1,163 35,290 32,744 69,197 (3,762) 65,435

Net interest received/(paid) 5,328 473 (1,242) 4,559 – 4,559

Tax paid (1,065) (3,960) (3,620) (8,645) (47) (8,692)

Purchase of property, plant
and equipment (634) (25,411) (3,690) (29,735) (222) (29,957)

Deferred exploration expenditure (762) (1,818) (11,155) (13,735) (209) (13,944)

Other cash movements (e) 29,695 327 5,977 35,999 3,897 39,896

Total decrease in cash
and cash equivalents 33,725 4,901 19,014 57,640 (343) 57,297

Employees – average number 19 443 385 847 – 847

(d) Adjustments for non-cash items include depreciation and amortisation, share based payments, movement in provision, taxation in the income

statement and non-operating items in the income statement;

(e) Other cash movements include deferred consideration paid, cash flows from financing activities, and exchange losses.
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5. PROFIT FOR THE PERIOD BEFORE TAX

2009 2008

US$000 US$000

Profit for the period has been arrived at after charging:
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment
– owned 9,871 12,859

– leased – 720

Operating lease charges 99 101

Audit services:
– fees payable to the Company’s auditor for the audit of the Company and Group accounts 140 148

Audit of associates of the company, pursuant to legislation 91 97

Fees payable to the Company’s auditor for other services:
– tax services 68 38

– other services – 50

6. REMUNERATION OF KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL
In accordance with IAS 24 – Related party transactions, key management personnel, including all executive and non executive directors, are those

persons having authority and responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the activities of the Group.

2009 2008

US$000 US$000

Wages and salaries 1,666 1,625

Bonuses 245 1,482

Social security costs 116 153

Pension costs – defined contribution plans 23 27

2,050 3,287

7. TOTAL EMPLOYEE REMUNERATION (INCLUDING KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL)

2009 2008

US$000 US$000

Wages and salaries 13,566 12,569

Bonus 980 1,969

Social security costs 1,138 1,242

Pension costs – defined contribution plans 165 683

15,849 16,463

The average number of employees during the period was made up as follows:
Directors 8 8

Management and administration 24 11

Mining, processing and exploration staff 962 828

994 847
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8. PROFIT/(LOSS) ON DISPOSAL OF NON-CURRENT ASSET INVESTMENTS
During the period, 3,260,570 shares held in the Dynasty Gold Corporation were cancelled following the decision of that company to withdraw from

its Red Valley project in China. As these shares had previously been included as non-current assets, this has been treated as a disposal for nil

proceeds, creating a loss on disposal of US$354,000. This amount was recognised within Operating Profit for the year, by virtue of its size.

During the year ended March 2008, the Group divested its interest in Damar Consolidated Exploration Sdn Bhd (Damar), the owner of the Buffalo

Reef prospects in Malaysia, and its remaining interest in Primary Metal Inc. (Primary). In addition it disposed of its ZGC operation in Tajikistan and

its subsidiary Commonwealth and British Minerals (UK) Limited (CBM (UK) Ltd), through which ZGC was held.

Discontinued
Other Total operations

continuing continuing ZGC/CBM
Year ended March 2008 Damar Primary operations operations (UK) Ltd

US$000 US$000 US$000 US$000 US$000

Sale proceeds
– cash 1,629 1,751 150 3,530 45,100

– shares 7,618 – – 7,618 –

9,247 1,751 150 11,148 45,100

Net assets disposed (1,249) (981) – (2,230) (30,336)

Disposal costs (14) – – (14) (2,467)

(1,263) (981) – (2,244) (32,803)

Profit on disposal of non-current investments
– continuing operations 7,984 770 150 8,904 –

Profit on disposal of discontinued operations – – – – 12,297

9. PROFIT BEFORE TAX AND EXCEPTIONAL ITEMS
Profit before tax and exceptional items is calculated as follows:

2009 2008

US$000 US$000

Operating profit 4,832 48,038

Add back exploration impairment 8,225 –

Exchange losses (439) (190)

Net finance income 2,386 4,559

Profit before tax and exceptional items 15,004 52,407
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10. EXCEPTIONAL ITEMS

2009 2008

US$000 US$000

Profit/(loss) on gold collar mark to market 24,768 (36,025)

Profit on disposal of non-current investments – 8,904

Profit on disposal of discontinued operations – 12,297

Profit on disposal of property plant and equipment 2,332 –

Exploration impairment (8,225) –

Exceptional profit/(loss) before taxation 18,875 (14,824)

Taxation (5,530) 10,087

Exceptional profit/(loss) after taxation 13,345 (4,737)

Minority interests 424 –

Attributable to equity shareholders of the parent company 13,769 (4,737)

GOLD COLLAR MARK TO MARKET

At 31 March 2008, the Group had sold call options over 190,000 ounces at a strike gold price of US$755/oz expiring at a rate of 10,000 ounces per

month between January 2010 and July 2011, and purchased put options over 400,000 ounces at a strike gold price of US$600/oz expiring at a rate

of 10,000 ounces per month between April 2008 and July 2011. At 31 March 2008, the London closing gold price was US$918/oz. On 13 August

2008 the Group closed out 65,000 call options for a cost of US$10.8 million and on 11 September 2008 the remaining 125,000 call options and

350,000 put options were closed out for a further US$10.0 million. As a result of the decrease in price up to the date of the close outs, the gold

collar liability reduced from US$45.6 million at 31 March 2008 to US$20.8 million at the time it was eliminated. This resulted in a pre-tax profit of

US$24.8 million in the year ended 31 March 2009.

PROFITS ON DISPOSALS

The profit on disposal of property, plant and equipment in the year arose on the Group’s disposal of a ball mill, previously purchased for Group use,

to Monument Mining Limited (Monument), for 8,125,003 Monument shares and 8,125,003 Monument warrants exercisable at C$0.50 until

12 August 2011, thereby realising a profit on disposal of US$2.3 million. Profits on disposal in the prior year principally related to the sale of ZGC

to Zijin Mining Company Limited for cash proceeds net of costs of US$42.6 million.

EXPLORATION IMPAIRMENT

Following evaluation of the exploration portfolio, a decision was made at the Company’s interim to impair US$8.0 million of deferred exploration

expenditure on projects that the Company does not intend to advance. In the second half year, US$0.2 million of holdings costs in respect of certain

of these projects were also impaired.

PROFIT ON DISPOSAL OF NON-CURRENT ASSET INVESTMENTS AND DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS

See note 8.

11. FINANCE INCOME AND EXPENSE

2009 2008

US$000 US$000

Finance Income
Bank interest received 2,388 4,655

Finance expense
Finance charges payable under finance leases – 96

Bank interest paid 2 –
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12. TAXATION

2009 2008

US$000 US$000

Current Tax:
Corporation tax on profit for the period (404) 885

Overseas tax 69 15,400

(335) 16,285

Deferred tax 9,982 (10,613)

Tax charge for the period 9,647 5,672

Factors affecting the current tax charge for the year:

2009 2008

US$000 US$000

Profit for the period before tax 33,880 37,583

Profit for period multiplied by the UK standard rate of corporation tax
28 per cent (2008 – 30 per cent) 9,486 11,275

Effects of:
Disallowable expenses (77) (605)

Non-recoverable write-off of exploration costs 899 –

Tax losses not utilised in the year 396 1,241

Gains not taxable (653) (6,761)

Decrease in rate on the deferred tax asset – 916

Tax relief for employee share issues – (394)

Write back of prior year overprovision (404) –

Tax charge for the period 9,647 5,672

13. DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS
ZGC and CBM (UK) Ltd were disposed during the financial year ended 31 March 2008. Their results for the period up to the date of their

disposal in that year are shown below, together with the profit on their disposal.

2009 2008

US$000 US$000

Loss from discontinued operations before taxation – (3,986)

Profit on disposal of discontinued operations – 12,297

Profit before taxation – 8,311

Taxation from discontinued operations – (47)

Profit for the period from discontinued operations – 8,264
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14. EARNINGS PER SHARE
Earnings per share are analysed in the table below for continuing and discontinued operations. The table below also shows earnings per share after

adjusting for exceptional items.

2009 2008

Shares Shares

Weighted average number of shares in issue for the period.
– number of shares with voting rights 120,696,804 120,186,174

– effect of share options in issue 1,015,604 2,070,535

– total used in calculation of diluted earnings per share 121,712,408 122,256,709

2009 2008

US$000 US$000

Earnings per share from continuing operations
Profit for the period from continuing operations 24,232 23,647

Adjustments:
(Less)/add back minority interests 292 (4,144)

Profit for the period attributable to equity shareholders of the parent 24,524 19,503

Earnings per share
Basic (cents per share) 20.32 16.23

Diluted (cents per share) 20.15 15.95

Earnings per share from discontinued operations
Profit for the period from discontinued operations – 8,264

Adjustments:
Add back minority interests – 581

Profit for the period attributable to equity shareholders of the parent – 8,845

Earnings per share
– basic (cents per share) – 7.36

– diluted (cents per share) – 7.23

Earnings per share before exceptionals
Profit for the period attributable to equity shareholders of the parent 24,524 28,348

Adjustments:
Deduct profit on disposal of non current asset investments – (21,201)

Deduct profit on disposal of property, plant and equipment (2,332) –

(Deduct)/add back (gain)/loss on gold collar (24,768) 36,025

Deferred tax on gain/(loss) on gold collar 6,935 (10,087)

Add back exploration impairment 8,225 –

Less deferred tax on exploration impairment (1,405) –

Less minority interest on exploration impairment (424) –

Profit for the period attributable to equity shareholders of the parent before exceptionals 10,755 33,085

Earnings per share
Basic (cents per share) 8.91 27.53

Diluted (cents per share) 8.84 27.06
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15. GOODWILL

2009 2008

US$000 US$000

At 1 April 8,678 5,448

Additions 1,221 3,512

Disposals – (282)

At 31 March 9,899 8,678

The additions to goodwill are associated with re-evaluation of deferred consideration payable in respect of Avocet’s 2002 acquisition of an 80 per

cent interest in the Indonesian company now named PT Avocet Bolaang Mongondow. Further details on deferred consideration are provided in

note 23. The disposal of goodwill in the year ended 31 March 2008 related to the sale of ZGC in July 2007.

16. INTANGIBLE ASSETS

2009 2008

US$000 US$000

At 1 April 23,810 12,224

Additions 16,837 13,944

Disposals – (2,358)

Amounts written off (8,225) –

At 31 March 32,422 23,810

The above intangible assets represent deferred exploration expenditure. The disposal during the year ended 31 March 2008 was in respect of the

Buffalo Reef prospect, announced in April 2007. Additions in the year included US$13.8 million of exploration expenditure, and US$3.0 million

relating to the Banda properties acquired in the year with shares in Avocet Mining PLC.

Year end balances are analysed as follows:

2009 2008

US$000 US$000

Malaysia 6,173 3,175

Indonesia 26,029 15,508

Philippines 220 –

China – 5,127

Tajikistan (discontinued) – –

32,422 23,810

The amounts shown in China at 31 March 2008 were in respect of the Hatu project, held in the books of the UK head office company. This amount

was fully written off as part of the US$8.2 million impairment in the year.
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17. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
Office

Mining property and plant equipment

Year ended 31 March 2009 Malaysia Indonesia Tajikistan UK UK Total

US$000 US$000 US$000 US$000 US$000 US$000

Cost
At 1 April 2008 91,178 32,688 – 625 230 124,721

Additions
– deferred stripping 5,636 – – – – 5,636

– other property, plant
and equipment 5,921 11,252 – – 40 17,213

– closure provisions – 4,559 – – – 4,559

Disposals (130) (47) – (625) (59) (861)

At 31 March 2009 102,605 48,452 – – 211 151,268

Depreciation
At 1 April 2008 50,568 19,927 – – 217 70,712

Charge for the year 6,037 3,820 – – 14 9,871

Disposals (130) (30) – – (59) (219)

At 31 March 2009 56,475 23,717 – – 172 80,364

Net book value
At 31 March 2009 46,130 24,735 – – 39 70,904

At 31 March 2008 40,610 12,761 – 625 13 54,009

The addition in respect of closure provisions reflects an increase during the year of anticipated closure liabilities at the Company’s operations in

Indonesia. On the recognition of a provision, an addition is made to property, plant and equipment of the same amount. This addition is charged

against profits on a unit of production basis over the life of the mine. The total charge to the income statement for the year ended 31 March 2009

in respect of mine closure provisions was US$1.5 million which is included in the Group’s depreciation charge.

Office
Mining property and plant equipment

Year ended 31 March 2008 Malaysia Indonesia Tajikistan UK UK Total

US$000 US$000 US$000 US$000 US$000 US$000

Cost
At 1 April 2007 66,142 24,998 18,622 – 221 109,983

Additions
– deferred stripping 6,928 – – – – 6,928

– other property, plant
and equipment 18,483 3,690 222 625 9 23,029

– closure provisions 1,000 4,000 – – – 5,000

Disposals (220) – (19,999) – – (20,219)

Intergroup transfers (1,155) – 1,155 – – –

At 31 March 2008 91,178 32,688 – 625 230 124,721

Depreciation
At 1 April 2007 47,565 9,485 4,010 – 201 61,261

Charge for the year 3,003 10,442 118 – 16 13,579

Disposals – – (4,128) – – (4,128)

At 31 March 2008 50,568 19,927 – – 217 70,712

Net book value
At 31 March 2008 40,610 12,761 – 625 13 54,009

At 31 March 2007 18,577 15,513 14,612 – 20 48,722
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18. OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS

2009 2008

US$000 US$000

At 1 April 8,323 3,765

Additions 2,986 7,050

Disposals (354) –

Fair value adjustment (3,716) (2,492)

At 31 March 7,239 8,323

Other financial assets represent the Company’s interests of 16 per cent in Dynasty Gold Corporation (Dynasty) and 14 per cent in Monument Mining

Limited, both companies listed on the TSX Venture Exchange in Canada. These investments are accounted for as other financial assets rather than

equity accounted as associates, on the basis that the Company is not in a position to exercise significant influence over the activities of, and has

no board representation in, either company. The addition during the year represents the receipt of 8,125,003 shares and 8,125,003 warrants at

C$0.50 in Monument Mining Limited as consideration for the sale of a ball mill. The disposals of US$354,000 in the year relate to the cancellation

of the shares in Dynasty – see note 8.

19. DEFERRED TAX

Assets 2009 2008

US$000 US$000

At 1 April 16,512 4,871

Movement (10,030) 11,641

At 31 March 6,482 16,512

The reduction in the deferred tax asset in the year of US$10.0 million includes the reversal of some US$12.8 million of deferred tax assets in respect

of the mark to market liability of US$45.6 million on the gold collar, which was closed out in September 2008.

Although the Company has US$55.0 million accumulated capital losses, no deferred tax assets have been recognised on the basis that future capital

gains are uncertain. Deferred tax assets will be recognised in the event of a qualifying capital gain.

Liabilities 2009 2008

US$000 US$000

At 1 April 3,579 4,293

Addition/(utilisation) 838 (714)

At 31 March 4,417 3,579

20. INVENTORIES

2009 2008

US$000 US$000

Consumables 7,090 4,749

Work in progress 8,330 9,949

Finished goods 2,847 2,652

18,267 17,350
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21. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

2009 2008

US$000 US$000

Other receivables 1,241 2,000

VAT 1,605 2,015

Corporation tax 6,718 –

Prepayments 977 1,272

10,541 5,287

22. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

2009 2008

US$000 US$000

Cash at bank and in hand 17,849 31,573

Short term bank deposits 54,569 91,023

Cash and cash equivalents 72,418 122,596

23. CURRENT LIABILITIES

2009 2008

US$000 US$000

Finance lease obligation – 137

Trade payables 9,683 7,824

Corporation tax 16 9,656

Social security and other taxes 543 592

Other payables 896 830

Accrued expenses 5,556 8,301

16,694 27,340

The reduction in Corporation tax liability was brought about in the year by the combination of lower taxable profits and tax payments made on

account based on prior year, rather than actual, profit levels.

The finance lease obligation was repaid in July 2008

24. OTHER FINANCIAL LIABILITIES

2009 2008

US$000 US$000

Gold collar not qualifying for hedge accounting – 45,600

During the year, the Group closed out its gold collar position, at a cost of US$20.8 million.



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
For the year ended 31 March 2009

80 Avocet Mining PLC Annual Report and Accounts 2009

25. OTHER LIABILITIES

Post
Mine Deferred Employment retirement

closure consideration benefits benefits Total

US$000 US$000 US$000 US$000 US$000

At April 2008 5,000 4,785 1,621 430 11,836

Provisions made during the year 4,559 1,219 124 – 5,902

Utilised during the year (817) (1,627) (7) – (2,451)

At 31 March 2009 8,742 4,377 1,738 430 15,287

Mine closure provisions of US$8.7 million represent management’s best estimate of the cost of mine closure at its operations in Malaysia and

Indonesia.

Deferred consideration is payable in respect of Avocet’s 2002 acquisition of PT Avocet Bolaang Mongondow, at a rate of four per cent on projected

net sale proceeds of future production. The value of future production is reassessed on an annual basis and additional consideration is provided

for when this value increases, based on the current life of mine and the directors’ view on future gold prices. The amount utilised in the year

represents deferred consideration paid during the year.

Indonesian employment benefits represent a provision for employee termination benefits required by the Indonesian Manpower Law.

The provision for post retirement benefits represents the directors’ best estimate of costs following the closure of a US subsidiary no longer

owned by the Group. The above amount represents a full provision for the liability, based on the most recent actuarial valuation at 1 January 2009.

The main assumptions used by the actuary were as follows:

2009 2008

% %

Rate of increase for pensions in payment 0.0 0.0

Discount rate 6.1 6.0

Inflation 2.5 3.0

US$000 US$000
The assets and liabilities in the scheme and the expected long term rate of return were:

Cash 86 61

Present value of scheme liabilities (449) (468)

Deficit in scheme (363) (407)

Rate of return -8.4% -11.5%

The negative returns reflect payment of the pension trust fees and costs of the independent actuarial valuation from the pension trust fund.
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26. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
Categories of financial instrument:

2009 2008

Measured Measured
at amortised at amortised

Measured at fair value cost Measured at fair value cost

Loans and Loans and
Held for receivables Held for receivables
trading including trading including
through cash and through cash and

Available income cash Available income cash
Categories for sale statement equivalents for sale statement equivalents

US$000 US$000 US$000 US$000 US$000 US$000

Financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents – – 72,418 – – 122,596

Other financial assets 7,239 – – 8,323 – –

7,239 – 72,418 8,323 – 122,596

Financial liabilities
Trade and other payables – – 16,694 – – 27,430

Other financial liabilities – – – – 45,600 –

– – 16,694 – 45,600 27,430

2009 2008

US$000 US$000

Results from financial assets and liabilities
Other financial assets at fair value through equity (4,117) (459)

Financial liabilities at fair value through income statement (derivatives see note 22) 24,768 (36,025)

All gold was sold at spot prices during the year averaging US$870/oz. Had prices been 10 per cent lower during the year profit would have

decreased by approximately US$9.1 million; had prices been 10 per cent higher during the year profits would have increased by US$9.1 million.

CREDIT RISK

Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will default on its contractual obligations resulting in financial loss to the Group. In order to minimise

this risk the Group endeavours only to deal with companies which are demonstrably creditworthy and this, together with the aggregate financial

exposure, is continuously monitored. The maximum exposure to credit risk is the value of the outstanding amounts as follows:

2009 2008

US$000 US$000

Cash and cash equivalents 72,418 122,596

Available for sale financial assets 7,239 8,323

79,657 130,919

Credit risk on cash and cash equivalents is considered to be small as the counterparties are all substantial banks with high credit ratings. The

maximum exposure is the amount of the deposit.
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26. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)
LIQUIDITY RISK

The Group constantly monitors the cash outflows from day to day business and monitors longer term liabilities to ensure that liquidity is maintained.

At the balance sheet date the Group’s short term financial liabilities are as follows:

2009 2008

US$000 US$000

Finance lease obligations – 137

Trade payables 9,683 7,824

Other short term financial liabilities 7,011 19,379

16,694 27,340

INTEREST RATE RISK

The Group currently finances its operations through equity fundraising and therefore does not carry significant borrowings. Cash balances and short

term deposits are held at interest rates based on LIBOR as follows:

Weighted Weighted
average average

interest rate 2009 interest rate 2008

% US$000 % US$000

Cash and cash equivalents 1.2 17,849 4.3 31,573

Short term deposits 3.1 54,569 4.7 91,023

72,418 122,596

The Group may be exposed to falls in deposit interest. The Group had no debt at either year end. Had the interest rate been lower by one

percentage point during the year profit before tax would have been approximately US$0.9 million lower.

FOREIGN CURRENCY RISK

The Group’s cash balances at 31 March consisted of the following currency holdings:

2009 2008

US$000 US$000

Sterling 2,150 5,615

US dollars 68,801 115,184

Other 1,467 1,797

72,418 122,596

The Group may be exposed to transaction foreign exchange risk due to its transactions not being matched in the same currency. The Group

currently has no currency hedging in place.

Local currency costs account for approximately 65 per cent and 43 per cent of operating costs in Malaysia and Indonesia, respectively. The

Malaysian ringgit weakened against the US dollar by 12 per cent during the current year. It is estimated that a further 12 per cent weakening in

the Malaysian ringgit would have improved profit before tax in the current year by US$3.4 million. The Indonesian rupiah weakened against the

dollar by 20 per cent during the year. Had the Indonesian rupiah weakened by a further 20 per cent in the current year it would have improved profit

before tax by approximately US$2.9 million.

There is no material difference between the fair values and the book values of these financial instruments.
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27. LEASE COMMITMENTS

2009 2008

US$000 US$000

Finance leases
Finance lease liabilities – minimum lease payments:

– within one year – 139

– within two to five years – –

– 139

Less amount representing interest – (2)

Obligation under capital lease – 137

Less current portion obligation under capital lease – (137)

Long term portion of obligation under capital lease – –

The finance lease obligation was repaid in July 2008.

28. SHARE BASED PAYMENTS
Details of the number of share options and the weighted average exercise price (WAEP) outstanding during the year are as follows:

2009 2008

Number WAEP (£) Number WAEP (£)

Outstanding at the beginning of the year 6,424,000 1.14 6,527,000 1.00

Granted during the year 1,050,000 1.52 1,025,000 1.57

Exercised during the year (100,000) 0.82 (640,000) 0.64

Forfeited during the year (75,000) 1.20 (488,000) 0.90

Outstanding at the year end 7,299,000 1.19 6,424,000 1.14

Exercisable at the year end 305,000 0.37 599,000 0.55

The fair value of options granted after 7 November 2002 but not vested at IFRS transition on 1 April 2006 has been arrived at using a third party

Monte Carlo simulation model. The assumptions inherent in the use of this model are as follows:

Vesting Date Expected Risk Exercise Share Volatility Fair Number
Date of period of life free price price at of share value out-
grant (years) vesting (years) rate (£) grant (£) price (£) standing

05/02/2003 3 05/02/2006 5 4.07% 0.36 0.36 55.85% 0.16 980,000

27/11/2003 3 27/11/2006 5 5.02% 0.72 0.72 50.35% 0.30 319,000

24/11/2004 3 24/11/2007 5 4.62% 0.98 0.98 48.31% 0.40 500,000

14/07/2005 3 14/07/2008 5 4.25% 0.80 0.82 48.57% 0.32 2,100,000

14/07/2006 3 14/07/2009 5 4.72% 1.72 1.76 50.26% 0.70 950,000

07/09/2006 3 07/09/2009 5 4.76% 1.73 1.76 50.56% 0.72 150,000

15/11/2006 3 15/11/2009 5 4.83% 1.03 1.03 53.57% 0.45 2,350,000

12/07/2007 3 12/07/2010 5 5.74% 1.38 1.36 52.05% 0.65 475,000

14/12/2007 3 14/12/2010 5 4.66% 1.70 1.74 50.56% 0.70 450,000

03/03/2008 3 03/03/2011 5 4.12% 1.96 1.72 46.51% 0.81 150,000

09/07/2008 3 09/07/2011 5 4.94% 1.54 1.54 45.08% 0.59 1,025,000

17/11/2008 3 17/11/2011 5 2.76% 0.57 0.57 46.18% 0.20 25,000

Expected volatility was determined by calculating the historical volatility of the Company's share price over the previous five years. The expected

life used in the model has been adjusted, based on management's best estimate, for the effects of non-transferability, exercise restrictions and

behavioural considerations.

The Group recognised total expenses of US$1,500,000 (2008 – US$1,618,000) related to equity settled share based payment transactions during

the year.
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29. CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT
In arriving at net cash flow from operating activities, the following non-operating items in the income statement have been adjusted for:

2009 2008

US$000 US$000

Profit on disposal of non-current asset investments – (8,904)

Profit on disposal of discontinued operations – (12,297)

Profit on disposal of property, plant and equipment (2,332) –

(Gain)/loss on gold collar not qualifying for hedge accounting (24,768) 36,025

Exchange losses 439 190

Finance income (2,388) (4,655)

Finance expense 2 96

(29,047) 10,455

30. SHARE CAPITAL

2009 2008

Number US$000 Number US$000

Authorised:
Ordinary shares of 5p 400,000,000 36,756 400,000,000 36,756

Issued and fully paid:
At 1 April 121,576,530 9,867 121,576,530 9,867

Issued during the year 500,000 37 – –

At 31 March 122,076,530 9,904 121,576,530 9,867

On 3 February 2009, the Company allotted 500,000 shares to Mathanha Mining following the declaration of an initial JORC resource of 966,300

ounces of gold at the Company’s Doup project.

31. OTHER RESERVES
Investment Revaluation
in own and of other

Merger Acquisition treasury financial Foreign
reserve reserve shares assets exchange Total

US$000 US$000 US$000 US$000 US$000

At 1 April 2007 19,901 (1,992) (3,556) (555) 96 13,894

Movement in year – – (2,149) (459) 168 (2,440)

At 31 March 2008 19,901 (1,992) (5,705) (1,014) 264 11,454

Movement in year – – 2,036 (4,117) 183 (1,898)

At 31 March 2009 19,901 (1,992) (3,669) (5,131) 447 9,556

The acquisition reserve arose on an acquisition from the issuing of 14,000,000 ordinary shares of the Company on 12 November 2002 at the

market price of 16p per share compared to the nominal value of 25p. The reserve was created following independent legal advice.

The movement in investments in own and treasury shares in the year was a result of the purchase of 250,000 ordinary 5p shares at a cost of

US$553,000, the release of 812,000 treasury shares at a cost of US$2.1 million, of which 100,000 were to satisfy the exercise of employee share

options and 712,000 were used as initial consideration for the Banda mining properties in Indonesia, and the release of EBT/SIP shares to

employees at a cost of US$455,000.
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32. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
There were no contingent liabilities at 31 March 2009 or 31 March 2008.

33. CAPITAL COMMITMENTS
There were no capital commitments at 31 March 2009 or 31 March 2008.

34. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
There were no related party transactions during the years ended 31 March 2009 or 31 March 2008.

35. POST BALANCE SHEET EVENTS
On 23 June 2009, Avocet acquired 100 per cent of the share capital in Wega Mining ASA, a company listed on the Oslo Børs. Under the terms of

the initial Voluntary Offer, 0.23 Ordinary Shares in Avocet Mining PLC were offered in exchange for each Wega Mining share. By 17 June 2009,

acceptances were received from a total of 96.4 per cent of Wega Mining shareholders by voting right. Avocet announced that the offer period was

closed, and that as all conditions of the offer had been satisfied, it would be proceeding with an unconditional offer to acquire the remaining

shares of Wega Mining for a cash consideration of NOK 2.08 per share (US$0.32). Six days after this announcement, on 23 June 2009, Avocet

became the owner of 100 per cent of the shares in Wega Mining, and on 15 July 2009, Wega Mining is expected to delist from the Oslo Børs.

The total expected consideration for the company is US$111.3 million, based on an initial share placement of US$5.1 million on 14 April 2009, the

issue of 73,044,723 shares in Avocet at a market price of £0.79, and the acquisition for cash of 13,051,404 Wega Mining shares at NOK 2.08 per

share, and directly attributable costs of acquisition estimated at US$6.6 million.

An estimation of the fair value adjustment has been arrived at by comparing the net assets of Wega Mining prior to acquisition with the total

consideration paid (including acquisition costs), and applying the resulting adjustment against intangible assets and plant, property and equipment.

Fair values
Book values (provisional)

US$000 US$000

Intangible assets 129,227 –

Property, plant and equipment 166,301 150,576

Investments in associates 145 145

Other financial assets 1,675 1,675

Trade and other receivables 336 336

Cash and bank balances 17,265 17,265

Trade and other payables (24,002) (24,002)

Interest-bearing loans (34,342) (34,342)

Other liabilities (355) (355)

256,250 111,298

Discharged by:
Initial equity placement 5,125

Fair value of shares issued 95,378

Compulsory offer for Wega Mining minority shareholders 4,148

Costs associated with the acquisition (estimated) 6,647

111,298
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We have audited the parent company financial statements of Avocet Mining PLC for the year ended 31 March 2009 which comprise the balance

sheet, significant accounting policies and notes 36 to 52. These parent company financial statements have been prepared under the accounting

policies set out therein.

We have reported separately on the group financial statements of Avocet Mining PLC for the year ended 31 March 2009.

This report is made solely to the company’s members, as a body, in accordance with Section 235 of the Companies Act 1985. Our audit work has

been undertaken so that we might state to the company’s members those matters we are required to state to them in an auditor's report and for

no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the company and the

company’s members as a body, for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we have formed.

RESPECTIVE RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS ANDAUDITORS
The directors' responsibilities for preparing the Annual Report, and the parent company financial statements in accordance with United Kingdom law

and United Kingdom Accounting Standards (United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice) are set out in the Statement of Directors'

Responsibilities.

Our responsibility is to audit the parent company financial statements in accordance with relevant legal and regulatory requirements and International

Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland).

We report to you our opinion as to whether the parent company financial statements give a true and fair view and whether the parent company

financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with the Companies Act 1985. We also report to you whether in our opinion the

Report of the Directors is consistent with the parent company financial statements. The information given in the Report of the Directors includes

that specific information presented in the Chairman's Statement, Chief Executive Officer's Statement, Operating Review, the Health, Safety and

Environment Section, Financial Review, Report on Corporate Governance and Notes to the Financial Statements that are cross referred from the

sections of the Report of the Directors on Principal Activity and Business Review, Future Developments, Results and Dividends, Post Balance

Sheet Events, Key Performance Indicators, Principal Risks and Uncertainties, Corporate Governance, Employees and Health, Safety and Environment.

In addition we report to you if, in our opinion, the company has not kept proper accounting records, if we have not received all the information and

explanations we require for our audit, or if information specified by law regarding directors' remuneration and other transactions is not disclosed.

We read other information contained in the Annual Report and consider whether it is consistent with the audited parent company financial

statements. This other information comprises only the Chairman's Statement, Chief Executive Officer's Statement, the Gold Market, the Operating

Review, Health, Safety and Environment, Community Relations, Financial Review, Report on Directors' Remuneration and Report on Corporate

Governance. We consider the implications for our report if we become aware of any apparent misstatements or material inconsistencies with the

parent company financial statements. Our responsibilities do not extend to any other information.

BASIS OF AUDIT OPINION
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland) issued by the Auditing Practices Board. An audit

includes examination, on a test basis, of evidence relevant to the amounts and disclosures in the parent company financial statements. It also

includes an assessment of the significant estimates and judgments made by the directors in the preparation of the parent company financial

statements, and of whether the accounting policies are appropriate to the company's circumstances, consistently applied and adequately disclosed.

We planned and performed our audit so as to obtain all the information and explanations which we considered necessary in order to provide us with

sufficient evidence to give reasonable assurance that the parent company financial statements are free from material misstatement, whether

caused by fraud or other irregularity or error. In forming our opinion we also evaluated the overall adequacy of the presentation of information in the

parent company financial statements.

OPINION
In our opinion:

• the parent company financial statements give a true and fair view, in accordance with United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting

Practice, of the state of the company's affairs as at 31 March 2009;

• the parent company financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with the Companies Act 1985; and

• the information given in the Report of the Directors is consistent with the parent company financial statements.

GRANT THORNTON UK LLP

Registered Auditor

Chartered Accountants

London

23 June 2009
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note 2009 2008

US$000 US$000

Fixed assets
Deferred exploration 39 3,491 5,127

Tangible fixed assets 40 39 639

Investments 41 16,359 13,804

19,889 19,570

Current assets
Debtors due within one year 42 9,340 9,883

Debtors due after more than one year 42 42,712 15,645

Cash at bank and in hand 55,833 86,617

107,885 112,145

Creditors: amounts falling due in less than one year 43 (4,692) (4,066)

Net current assets 103,193 108,079

Total assets less current liabilities 123,083 127,649

Provisions for liabilities 44 (4,377) (4,785)

118,705 122,864

Capital and reserves
Called up share capital 45 9,904 9,867

Share premium account 46 53,400 52,834

Investment in own shares 47 (1,355) (1,810)

Investment in treasury shares 47 (2,314) (3,895)

Profit and loss account 48 59,070 65,868

Equity shareholders’ funds 118,705 122,864

These financial statements were approved and signed on behalf of the board of directors on 23 June 2009.

N G McNair Scott A M Norris

The accompanying accounting policies and notes form an integral part of these financial statements.

COMPANY BALANCE SHEET
At 31 March 2009
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36. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS OF THE PARENT COMPANY
The separate financial statements of the Company are presented as required by the Companies Act 1985. The Company has taken advantage of

the exemption under section 230 (2) of the Companies Act 1985 not to publish its individual profit and loss account and related notes. As permitted

by the Act, the separate financial statements have been prepared in accordance with all applicable UK accounting standards.

37. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
The financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis. This differs from the Group financial statements which are prepared under

IFRS which require movements in the fair value of the Group’s gold collar to be recognised in the Group’s income statement. The principal

accounting policies which differ to those set out in note 3 to the consolidated financial statements are noted below.

INVESTMENTS

Investments are included at cost less amounts written off.

DEFERRED TAX

Deferred tax is recognised on all timing differences where the transactions or events that give the Company an obligation to pay more tax in the

future, or a right to pay less tax in the future, have occurred by the balance sheet date. Deferred tax is measured using rates of tax that have been

enacted or substantially enacted by the balance sheet date.

LEASED ASSETS

Assets acquired under finance leases are capitalised and the outstanding future lease obligations are shown in creditors. The assets are depreciated

over their useful economic lives. The interest element of leasing payments is charged to the profit and loss account over the period of the lease.

Finance leases are identified as being those that transfer the substantial risks and rewards of ownership. All other leases are regarded as operating

leases and the payments made under them are charged to the profit and loss account on a straight line basis over the lease term.

FOREIGN CURRENCY

The Company’s financial statements have been reported in US dollars as the dollar is considered to be the Group’s functional currency. Transactions

in foreign currencies are translated at the exchange rate ruling at the date of the transaction. Monetary assets and liabilities in foreign currencies

are translated at the rates of exchange ruling at the balance sheet date. The financial statements of foreign subsidiary undertakings are translated

at the rate of exchange ruling at the balance sheet date. Exchange differences arising from the retranslation of the opening net investment in

subsidiary undertakings are taken directly to reserves. All other exchange differences are dealt with through the profit and loss account.
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38. PROFIT ON ORDINARY ACTIVITIES BEFORE TAXATION
The loss is stated after charging:

2009 2008

US$000 US$000

Auditors’ remuneration:
– audit – Company 10 12

Non-audit services
– other services relating to taxation 64 30

– all other services – Nominated Adviser (NOMAD) – 30

Depreciation of owned tangible fixed assets 14 15

Operating lease charges 99 101

Staff and executive directors: 2009 2008

Number Number

The average number of employees, including executive directors, was as follows:
– management and administration 9 9

9 9

The employment costs of staff including executive directors comprised: 2009 2008

US$000 US$000

Wages and salaries 3,604 3,126

Bonuses 980 1,644

Social security costs 120 248

Pension contributions 35 45

4,739 5,063

Details of directors’ remuneration, including their beneficial interests in the share capital and share options of the Company, are shown in the Report

on Directors’ Remuneration on pages 53 to 56.
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39. DEFERRED EXPLORATION

Deferred
exploration
expenditure

US$000

Cost
At 1 April 2008 5,127

Additions 3,441

Amounts written off (5,077)

At 31 March 2009 3,491

Amortisation at 31 March 2009 and 2008 –

Net book value at 31 March 2009 3,491

Net book value at 31 March 2008 5,127

Deferred exploration expenditure relates mainly to the Banda property in Indonesia, as well as the Idenburg joint venture in West Papua, and the

Kay Tanda project in the Philippines.

40. TANGIBLE FIXED ASSETS

Plant & Office
machinery equipment Total

US$000 US$000 US$000

Cost
At 1 April 2008 625 230 855

Additions – 40 40

Disposal (625) (59) (684)

At 31 March 2009 – 211 211

Depreciation
At 1 April 2008 – 217 217

Charge for the year – 14 14

Disposal – (59) (59)

At 31 March 2009 – 172 172

Net book value at 31 March 2009 – 39 39

Net book value at 31 March 2008 625 13 638

The disposal in the period related to the sale of a ball mill, previously purchased for Group use, to Monument Mining Limited for 8,125,003 shares

and 8,125,003 warrants at C$0.50, thereby realising a profit of US$2.3 million.
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41. INVESTMENTS

Subsidiary
undertakings

and shares

US$000

Cost
At 1 April 2008 26,140

Addition 2,909

Disposals (354)

At 31 March 2009 28,695

Provisions
At 1 April 2008 (12,336)

At 31 March 2009 (12,336)

Net book value
At 31 March 2009 16,359

Net book value at 31 March 2008 13,804

The disposals in the year related to the cancellation of 3,360,570 shares in Dynasty Gold Corporation, following that company’s decision to

withdraw from its Red Valley project in China.

During the year the principal trading subsidiaries of the Company, including those held indirectly by the Company, were as shown in the following table.

Country of Class Percentage
registration or of share of

Nature of incorporation capital ordinary share
business & operation held capital held by

Company Group

England &
Avocet Gold Limited Gold exploration & mining Wales Ordinary – 100%

Gold exploration &
Specific Resources Sdn. Bhd mining contractor Malaysia Ordinary – 100%

PT Avocet Bolaang Mongondow Gold exploration & mining Indonesia Ordinary 80% 80%

42. DEBTORS

2009 2008

US$000 US$000

(a) Due within one year
Amounts owed by Group undertakings 9,000 9,000

Other debtors 44 640

Prepayments 296 243

9,340 9,883

(b) Due after more than one year
Amounts owed by Group undertakings 37,269 14,442

Deferred tax 5,444 1,203

42,712 15,645
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43. CREDITORS: AMOUNTS FALLING DUE IN LESS THAN ONEYEAR

2009 2008

US$000 US$000

Corporation tax – 560

Other taxes and social security 44 99

Other creditors 2,054 490

Accruals and deferred income 2,594 2,917

4,692 4,066

44. PROVISIONS FOR LIABILITIES

2009 2008

US$000 US$000

Deferred consideration
At 1 April 2008 4,785 3,267

Provisions made during the year 1,219 3,512

Utilised during the year (1,627) (1,994)

At 31 March 2009 4,377 4,785

Deferred consideration is payable in respect of Avocet’s 2002 acquisition of PT Avocet Bolaang Mongondow, at a rate of four per cent on projected

net sale proceeds of future production. The value of future production is reassessed on an annual basis and additional consideration is provided

for when this value increases, based on the current life of mine and the directors’ view on future gold prices. The amount utilised in the year

represents deferred consideration paid during the year.

45. SHARE CAPITAL

2009 2008

Number US$000 Number US$000

Authorised:
Ordinary shares of 5p 400,000,000 36,756 400,000,000 36,756

Allotted, called up and fully paid:
At 1 April 121,576,530 9,867 121,576,530 9,867

Issued during the year 500,000 37 – –

At 31 March 2009 122,076,530 9,904 121,576,530 9,867

On 3 February 2009, the Company allotted 500,000 shares to Mathanha Mining following the declaration of an initial JORC resource of 966,300

ounces of gold at the Company’s Doup project.
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46. SHARE PREMIUMACCOUNT

US$000

At 1 April 2008 52,834

Arising during the year 566

At 31 March 2009 53,400

The share premium movement in the year arose on the issue of 500,000 5p ordinary shares at a market price of 83p per share, representing a

premium of 78p per share.

47. INVESTMENT IN OWN SHARES AND TREASURY SHARES

Own shares Treasury shares

US$000 US$000

At 1 April 2008 1,810 3,895

Purchased from the market – 553

Released during the year (455) (2,134)

At 31 March 2009 1,355 2,314

During the year US$455,000 of EBT and SIP shares were released to employees of the Company.

In addition, 250,000 ordinary 5p shares were purchased by the Company at a cost of US$553,000, and 812,000 treasury shares were released,

of which 100,000 were to satisfy the exercise of employee share options, and 712,000 were used as initial consideration for the Banda mining

properties in Indonesia.

At 31 March 2009 910,000 shares remained in treasury at a cost of US$2.3 million.

48. PROFIT AND LOSS ACCOUNT

Company
2009

US$000

At 1 April 2008 65,868

Share based payments 1,500

Gain on release of shares from treasury 497

Retained loss for the year (8,795)

At 31 March 2009 59,070

The Company has taken advantage of Section 230 of the Companies Act 1985 in electing not to publish its own profit and loss account.
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49. RECONCILIATION OF MOVEMENTS IN EQUITY SHAREHOLDERS’ FUNDS

2009 2008

US$000 US$000

(Loss)/profit for the financial year (8,795) 8,293

Release of Company reserve – (10,258)

New capital subscribed (net of costs) 37 –

Share premium arising on shares issued in the year 566 –

Reduction in investment in own shares 455 320

Reduction/(increase) in investment in treasury shares 1,581 (2,469)

Share based payments 1,500 1,618

Gain/(loss) on release of shares from treasury 497 (876)

Net change in equity shareholders’ funds (4,158) (3,372)

Opening equity shareholders’ funds 122,864 126,236

Closing equity shareholders’ funds 118,705 122,864

The reduction in investment in own shares arose from the issue of shares held by the Company’s EBT.

50. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
There were no contingent liabilities at 31 March 2009 or 31 March 2008.

51. CAPITAL COMMITMENTS
There were no capital commitments at 31 March 2009 or 31 March 2008.

52. POST BALANCE SHEET EVENTS
On 23 June 2009, Avocet acquired 100 per cent of the share capital in Wega Mining ASA, a company listed on the Oslo Børs. Under the terms of

the initial Voluntary Offer, 0.23 Ordinary Shares in Avocet Mining PLC were offered in exchange for each Wega Mining share. By 17 June 2009,

acceptances were received from a total of 96.4 per cent of Wega Mining shareholders by voting right. Avocet announced that the offer period was

closed, and that as all conditions of the offer had been satisfied, it would be proceeding with an unconditional offer to acquire the remaining

shares of Wega Mining for a cash consideration of NOK 2.08 per share (US$0.32). Six days after this announcement, on 23 June 2009, Avocet

became the owner of 100 per cent of the shares in Wega Mining, and on 15 July 2009, Wega Mining is expected to delist from the Oslo Børs.

The total expected consideration for the company is US$111.3 million, based on an initial share placement of US$5.1 million on 14 April 2009, the

issue of 73,044,723 shares in Avocet at a market price of £0.79, and the acquisition for cash of 13,051,404 Wega Mining shares at NOK 2.08 per

share, and directly attributable costs of acquisition estimated at US$6.6 million.

An estimation of the fair value adjustment has been arrived at by comparing the net assets of Wega Mining prior to acquisition with the total

consideration paid (including acquisition costs), and applying the resulting adjustment against intangible assets and plant, property and equipment.
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52. POST BALANCE SHEET EVENTS (CONTINUED)

Fair values
Book values (provisional)

US$000 US$000

Intangible assets 129,227 –

Property, plant and equipment 166,301 150,576

Investments in associates 145 145

Other financial assets 1,675 1,675

Trade and other receivables 336 336

Cash and bank balances 17,265 17,265

Trade and other payables (24,002) (24,002)

Interest-bearing loans (34,342) (34,342)

Other liabilities (355) (355)

256,250 111,298

Discharged by:
Initial equity placement 5,125

Fair value of shares issued 95,378

Compulsory offer for Wega Mining minority shareholders 4,148

Costs associated with the acquisition (estimated) 6,647

111,298
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Avocet Mining PLC ordinary shares are listed on the Alternative Investment Market of the London Stock Exchange.

The Company’s lead and joint brokers are J.P. Morgan Cazenove Limited and Ambrian Partners Limited, respectively. The Company’s Nominated

Adviser (NOMAD) is Ambrian Partners Limited.

Avocet Mining PLC has a web site (www.avocet.co.uk) on which press releases and background information on the Company and some of its

operations can be found.

The share price is quoted on a daily basis in the Financial Times and The Daily Telegraph. Shares may be bought or sold through a stockbroker who

is a member of the London Stock Exchange.

Market makers in the shares of the Company are Arbuthnot Securities Limited, Shore Capital Stockbrokers Limited, Evolution Securities Limited,

Ambrian Partners Limited, Winterflood Securities Limited, J.P. Morgan Cazenove Limited, Canaccord Adams Limited, Bank of Montreal, and

Fox Davies Capital.

High Low
Quarter ended: £ £

30 June 2008 1.87 1.47

30 September 2008 1.64 1.00

31 December 2008 1.03 0.50

31 March 2009 0.89 0.66

Closing price: £

31 March 2009 0.68

Number of shares in issue:

31 March 2008 121,576,530

31 March 2009 122,076,530

UNSOLICITED MAIL:

Avocet Mining PLC is aware that some shareholders have had occasion to complain that outside organisations, for their own purposes, have used

information obtained from the Company’s share registers. Avocet Mining PLC, like other companies, cannot by law refuse to supply such information

provided that the organisation concerned pays the appropriate statutory fee. If you are in the UK and wish to stop receiving unsolicited mail then

you should register with The Mailing Preference Service by letter, telephone or through its website.

The Mailing Preference Service

DMA House

70 Margaret Street

London

W1W 8SS

Complaints Department – 020 7291 3321

www.mpsonline.org.uk
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GENERAL AUTHORITIES TO ALLOT RELEVANT SECURITIES
It is proposed to renew the general authority previously granted to the directors to allot relevant securities. Resolution 7 would give the directors

authority until the end of the 2010 AGM to allot additional shares up to an aggregate nominal amount of £3,248,769 representing 33.3 per cent of

the expected ordinary shares of the Company following the acquisition of Wega Mining ASA in June 2009. The directors have no present intention

to exercise this authority.

It is further proposed, in Resolution 8, to give the directors authority, until the end of the 2010 AGM, to allot additional shares equalling up to

100 per cent of the expected issued share capital of the Company, following the acquisition of Wega Mining, in connection with an acquisition. The

allotment of any greater number of shares would amount to a reverse takeover, requiring a separate shareholder approval. Once again, the directors

have no present intention to exercise this authority, but your board believes that it is in the best interests of shareholders for the directors to be in

a position to respond swiftly to any opportunities which might arise.

INCREASE IN AUTHORISED SHARE CAPITAL
If the authorities to be granted by resolutions 7 and 8 are to be fully used, the authorised share capital of the Company must be increased from its

present level. It is therefore proposed in Resolution 9 to increase the authorised share capital of the Company from £20,000,000 to £40,000,000 by

the creation of 400,000,000 new ordinary shares of five pence each in the capital of the Company.

DISAPPLICATION OF PRE-EMPTION RIGHTS
Section 89 of the Companies Act 1985 gives holders of equity securities, with limited but important exceptions, certain rights of pre-emption on the

issue for cash of new equity securities. Your board believes that it is in the best interests of shareholders that, as in previous years, the directors

should have limited authority to allot some part of the Company’s authorised but unissued equity share capital for cash without first having to offer

such shares to existing shareholders. It is proposed that this authority will expire at the end of the 2010 AGM. The authority proposed in Resolution

10 will relate to allotments in respect of issues by way of rights (where difficulties arise in offering shares to certain overseas shareholders and in

relation to fractional entitlements) and to allotments (other than in respect of rights issues) of equity securities having an aggregate nominal amount

not exceeding £487,803 being five per cent of the expected issued equity share capital of the Company following the Wega Mining ASA acquisition

in June 2009.

PURCHASE OF OWN SHARES
Resolution 11 would give the directors authority until the end of the 2010 AGM to purchase up to 15 per cent of its own shares in the market at a

price not less than the nominal value of the shares and not exceeding 105 per cent of the average of the middle market quotations for the ordinary

shares of the Company for the five days prior to the date of purchase. If this authority is exercised, the shares purchased by the Company will be

cancelled, held in treasury or a combination of both, as the directors consider appropriate at the time.

ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING (AGM)
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Notice is hereby given that the AGM of Avocet Mining PLC will be held at the Lansdowne Club, 9 Fitzmaurice Place, London, W1J 5JD on

17 September 2009 at 3pm for the following purposes:

ORDINARY BUSINESS
1. To receive the Company's accounts and reports of the directors and auditors for the year ended 31 March 2009.

2. To receive and approve the report on directors’ remuneration for the year ended 31 March 2009.

3. To re-elect the following as directors (as separate resolutions):

(a) N G McNair Scott

(b) Sir Richard Brooke Bt.

(c) R A Pilkington

The above directors offer themselves for re-election in accordance with the provisions of the Quoted Companies Alliance published Corporate

Governance Guidelines for AIM Companies.

J F Newman has declared his intention not to offer himself for re-election.

4. To re-elect the following as directors who retire by rotation in accordance with the Company’s Articles of Association (as separate resolutions):

a) R S Robertson

b) J G Henry

c) A M Norris

5. To appoint H Arnet, the chief executive officer of Datum AS, formerly Wega Mining’s largest shareholder and following the acquisition of Wega

Mining now Avocet’s second largest shareholder, to the board of Avocet Mining PLC.

6. To re-appoint Grant Thornton UK LLP of Grant Thornton House, Melton Street, Euston Square, London NW1 2EP as auditor of the Company until

the AGM of the Company to be held in 2010 at a remuneration to be agreed with the board of directors.

SPECIAL BUSINESS
To consider, and if thought fit, pass the following resolutions which will be proposed, as to resolutions 7, 8 and 9 as ordinary resolutions and, as to

resolutions 10 and 11 as special resolutions.

ORDINARY RESOLUTIONS
7. That, in substitution for any existing authority under section 80 of the Companies Act 1985 (the Act), the directors be and are hereby generally

and unconditionally authorised for the purposes of that section to exercise all the powers of the Company to allot relevant securities (within the

meaning of that section) up to a maximum aggregate nominal amount of £3,248,769 representing 33.3 per cent of the expected ordinary shares

of the Company in issue following the acquisition of Wega Mining ASA, such authority to expire at the end of the next AGM, save that the

Company may before such expiry make an offer or agreement which would or might require relevant securities to be allotted after such expiry

and the directors may allot relevant securities pursuant to any such offer or agreement as if such authority had not expired.

8. That, in addition to the authority granted by Resolution 7 above, the directors be and are hereby generally and unconditionally authorised for the

purposes of section 80 of the Act to exercise all the powers of the Company to allot relevant securities (within the meaning of that section) up

to a maximum aggregate nominal amount of £9,756,063, equalling 100 per cent of the expected issued share capital of the Company following

the acquisition of Wega Mining ASA, in connection with an arrangement providing for the allotment of relevant securities on terms that the whole

or part of the consideration for the securities allotted is to be provided by the transfer to the Company (or the cancellation) of all or some of the

securities in another company or of all or some of the assets and liabilities of another company, such authority to expire at the end of the next

AGM save that the Company may before such expiry make an offer or agreement which would or might require relevant securities to be

allotted after such expiry and the directors may allot relevant securities pursuant to any such offer or agreement as if such authority had not

expired.

9. That the authorised share capital of the Company be and is hereby increased from £20,000,000 to £40,000,000 by the creation of an additional

400,000,000 new ordinary shares of five pence each in the capital of the Company.
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SPECIAL RESOLUTIONS
10. That, subject to the passing of Resolution 7 above, in accordance with section 95(1) of the Act, and in substitution for any existing authorities

under that section, the directors be given power until the end of the next AGM to allot equity securities (as defined in section 94(2) to 94(3A)

of the Act) for cash pursuant to the authority conferred on the directors for the purposes of section 80 of the Act by the passing of Resolution

7 above as if section 89(1) of the Act did not apply to such allotment and the directors shall be entitled to make at any time prior to the expiry

of the power thereby conferred any offer or agreement which would or might require equity securities to be allotted after the expiry of such

power, provided that such authority shall be limited to:

(a) the allotment (other than pursuant to paragraph (b) below) of equity securities up to an aggregate nominal amount of £487,803, being five

per cent of the expected issued equity share capital of the Company following the Wega Mining ASA acquisition in June 2009;

(b) the allotment of equity securities in connection with an issue to ordinary shareholders in the Company in proportion (as nearly as may be)

to the respective numbers of ordinary shares each then held by them, subject only to such exclusions or other arrangements as the directors

may deem necessary or expedient to deal with fractional entitlements or legal or practical problems under the laws of any territory or the

requirements of any regulatory body or stock exchange.

This power applies in relation to a sale of shares which is an allotment of equity securities by virtue of section 94(3A) of the Act as if in the first

paragraph of this Resolution the words “subject to the passing of Resolution 7 above,” and “pursuant to the authority conferred on the directors

for the purposes of section 80 of the Act by the passing of Resolution 7 above”, were omitted.

11. That the Company be and is hereby generally and unconditionally authorised for the purpose of section 166 of the Act to make market purchases

(within the meaning of section 163(3) of the Act 1985) of ordinary shares of the Company on such terms and in such manner as the directors

shall determine, provided that:

(a) the maximum number of shares hereby authorised to be acquired shall be 29,268,188 ordinary shares; representing 15 per cent of the

expected ordinary shares in the Company following the Wega Mining ASA acquisition in June 2009;

(b) the minimum price which shall be paid for each share will be its nominal value and the maximum price shall be an amount equal to 105 per

cent of the average of the middle market quotations for the ordinary shares of the Company (derived from the London Stock Exchange

Alternative Investment Market) for the five business days prior to the date of purchase; and

(c) the authority hereby given shall expire at the conclusion of the next AGM of the Company save that the Company may make a purchase

of ordinary shares under such authority after such date if the contract of purchase for the same was entered into before such date.

Date 23 June 2009

By order of the board

J E G M Wynn

Company Secretary

Registered Office:

7th Floor, 9 Berkeley Street

London W1J 8DW

NOTES
A member entitled to attend and vote at the meeting convened by this notice is entitled to appoint a proxy to attend, speak and vote in his/her place. A proxy need not be a member of the

Company. More than one proxy may be appointed to exercise the rights attaching to different shares held by the member, but a member may not appoint more than one proxy to exercise rights

attached to any one share. To be valid, the duly completed and executed Form of Proxy and the power of attorney or other authority (if any) under which they are signed or a copy of that power or

authority certified notarially or in accordance with the Powers of Attorney Act 1971 must be deposited with the Company’s registrars not later than 48 hours before the time of the meeting or any

adjourned meeting. Completion and return of a Form of Proxy will not prevent a member from attending and voting if he/she so wishes.

Pursuant to regulation 41 of the Uncertificated Securities Regulations 2001, the Company specifies that only those shareholders registered in the Company’s register of members at 6.00 p.m. on

15 September 2009 shall be entitled to attend or vote at the AGM in respect of the number of shares registered in their name at that time. Changes to entries on the register after 6.00 p.m. on

15 September 2009 will be disregarded in determining the rights of any person to attend or vote at the meeting.

Copies of service contracts of the directors with the Company and any subsidiaries with a notice period of one year or more or with provisions for predetermined compensation on termination of

an amount which equals or exceeds one year's salary and benefits in kind are available for inspection at the registered office during normal business hours and at the AGM for at least 15 minutes

prior to and during the meeting.
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
J G Henry – Chief Executive Officer

A M Norris – Finance Director

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
N G McNair Scott – Chairman

Sir Richard Brooke Bt.

M J Donoghue

J F Newman
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R S Robertson

COMPANY SECRETARY AND REGISTERED OFFICE
J E G M Wynn
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London W1J 8DW

REGISTRARS AND TRANSFER OFFICE
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Barclays Bank PLC
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Ambrian Partners Limited
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• Profit before tax of US$33.9million, US$15.0million
before exceptional items

• Net cash generated by operations of US$23.7million

• Gold production of 109,919 ounces at a cash cost 
of US$551/oz 

• Maiden1millionounce resource at Doup, Indonesia

• Acquisitionof Wega Mining ASA completed in June 2009

• Acquisition to double Avocet gold production

HIGHLIGHTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2009
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FORM OF PROXY
COMPUTERSHARE INVESTOR SERVICES PLC
PO BOX 82 THE PAVILIONS BRIDGWATER ROAD
BRISTOL BS99 6ZY
I/We __________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________

of __________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________

being a member/members of Avocet Mining PLC, hereby appoint the Chairman of the meeting or*

__________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________

of __________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________

or, failing him/her ____________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________

of __________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________

as my/our proxy to vote on a poll in my/our name(s) and on my/our behalf at the Annual General Meeting of the Company to be held on
17 September 2009, and at any adjournment thereof.

I/we direct my/our proxy to vote (or abstain from voting) as directed below, or as he/she thinks fit on any of the resolutions submitted to the
meeting where no specific direction is given or on any other business which may properly come before the meeting.

ORDINARY RESOLUTIONS FOR AGAINST

1. Receive the Company’s accounts and Reports of the directors and auditors for the year ended 31 March 2009

2. Receive and approve the Report on Directors’ Remuneration for the year ended 31 March 2009

3. Re-elect the following as directors (as separate resolutions):

(a) N G McNair Scott

(b) Sir Richard Brooke Bt.

(c) R A Pilkington

4. Re-elect the following as directors (as separate resolutions):

(a) R S Robertson

(b) J G Henry

(c) A M Norris

5. Appoint H Arnet as director

6. Re-appoint Grant Thornton UK LLP as auditor and authorise the determination of their remuneration

7. Authority to allot shares pursuant to section 80 of the Companies Act 1985

8. Further authority to allot shares pursuant to section 80 of the Companies Act 1985
in connection with an acquisition

9. Increase the authorised share capital of the company

SPECIAL RESOLUTIONS

10. Disapplication of pre-emption rights pursuant to section 89 of the Companies Act 1985

11. Authority for the Company to purchase its own shares pursuant to section 166 of the Companies Act 1985

* If you wish to appoint a person other than the Chairman, then insert his/her name and delete the words “the Chairman of the meeting or”

Please indicate how you wish your vote to be cast by placing an 'X' in the appropriate box. Unless otherwise instructed, the proxy may
vote (or abstain from voting) as he/she thinks fit on any of the resolutions submitted to the meeting or on any other business, which may
properly come before the meeting.

Signed this ________________________________________ day of ________________________________________2009

Signature(s) ________________________________________________________________________________________

NOTE
1. All members are entitled to attend and vote at the meeting, whether or not they have returned a Form of Proxy.

2. In the case of a corporation, the Form of Proxy must be executed under its common seal or under the hand of an officer or attorney duly authorised in writing.

3. Any alterations made in this Form of Proxy must be initialled.

4. To be valid, the Form of Proxy and any authority under which it is executed (or a notarially certified or office copy of such authority), must be lodged at the Company’s registrars at

the address given above not less than 48 hours before the time fixed for the meeting.

5. A shareholder is entitled to appoint a proxy of his/her own choice. A shareholder may appoint more than one proxy to attend on the same occasion.

6. In the case of joint holders of a share the vote of the first-named holder on the register of members (whether voting in person or by proxy) will be accepted to the exclusion of the

votes of the other joint holders in respect of the joint holding. For this purpose, seniority shall be determined by the order in which the names of such holders stand in the register

of members in respect of the joint holding.


